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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024
or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-32545

L. Picture2.jpg

DESIGNER BRANDS INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Ohio 31-0746639
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
810 DSW Drive, Columbus, Ohio 43219
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (614) 237-7100

Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

Class A Common Shares, without par value DBI New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 4 Yes [J No

Indicate by check mark whether the regi has submitted I every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit such files). i Yes [J No

Indicate by check mark whether the regi: is a large filer, an filer, a non-; filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller
reporting company,” and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer (m] Accelerated filer o
Non-accelerated filer [m] Smaller reporting company [m]
Emerging growth company a

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange
Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). O Yes [1 No

Number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of common stock, as of November 28, 2023 May 28, 2024: 49,124,473 50,070,340 Class A common shares and 7,732,733 Class B common shares.
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All references to "we," "us," "our," "Designer Brands," "Designer Brands Inc.," or the "Company" in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 28, 2023 May
4, 2024 (this "Form 10-Q") mean Designer Brands Inc. and its subsidiaries.

We have included certain website addresses throughout this report as inactive textual references only. The information contained on the websites referenced herein is not
incorporated into this Form 10-Q.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information for Purposes of the "Safe Harbor" Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Certain statements in this Form 10-Q may constitute forward-looking statements and are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Such statements reflect our current views with respect to, among other things, future events and financial performance. You can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of words
such as "outlook," "could," "believes," "expects," "potential," "continues," "may," "will," "should," "would," "seeks," "approximately," "predicts," "intends," "plans," "estimates," "anticipates," or
the negative version of those words or other comparable words. Any forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-Q are based upon current plans, estimates, expectations and
assumptions relating to our operations, results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity. The inclusion of any forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by
us or any other person that the future plans, estimates, or expectations contemplated by us will be achieved. Such forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks, uncertainties,
and other factors that may cause actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. In addition to other factors discussed elsewhere in this report, including those factors described under Part |, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2023 February 3, 2024 (the "2022 "2023 Form 10-K"), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on March 16, 2023 March 25,
2024, and otherwise in our reports and filings with the SEC, there are a number of important factors that could cause actual results, performance, or achievements to differ materially from

those discussed in forward-looking statements that include, but are not limited to, the following:

« uncertain general economic and financial conditions, including concerns of a potential recession concerns, in the United States ("U.S."), fluctuating interest rates, inflationary
pressures, and rising interest rates, and the related impacts to consumer discretionary spending;

* supply chain challenges;

« risks related spending, as well as our ability to adverse public health developments; plan for and respond to the impact of these conditions;

« our ability to anticipate and respond to fashion trends, rapidly changing consumer preferences, seasonality, customer expectations, and changing customer expectations; fashion
trends;

« the impact on our consumer traffic and demand, our business operations, and the operations of our suppliers, as we experience unseasonable weather, climate change evolves, and
the frequency and severity of weather events increase;
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« our ability to execute on our business strategies, including integrating and growing our Brand Portfolio segment, enhancing in-store and digital shopping experiences, and meeting
consumer demands;

« whether we will be able to successfully and efficiently integrate our recent acquisitions in a manner that does not impede growth;
« our ability to maintain strong relationships with our vendors, manufacturers, licensors, and retailer customers;

» risks related to losses or disruptions associated with our distribution systems, including our distribution centers and stores, whether as a result of reliance on third-party providers or

otherwise;
» our ability to retain our existing management team, and continue to attract qualified new personnel;
* risks related to cyber security threats and privacy or data security breaches or the potential loss or disruption of our information technology ("IT") systems;
« risks related to the implementation of an enterprise resource planning system (“ERP") software solution new or updated IT systems;
« our ability to protect our reputation and other IT systems; to maintain the brands we license;
« our reliance on our loyalty programs and marketing to drive traffic, sales, and customer loyalty;

« our ability to protect successfully integrate new hires or changes in leadership and retain our reputation existing management team, and to maintain the brands we license; continue to
attract qualified new personnel;

«  risks related to restrictions imposed by our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility, as amended ("ABL Revolver"), and our senior secured term loan credit agreement, as
amended (“Term Loan"), that could limit our ability to fund our operations;

*  our competitiveness with respect to style, price, brand availability, shopping platforms, and customer service;

«  risks related to our international operations including international trade, and our reliance on foreign sources for merchandise, exposure to political, economic, operational,
compliance and other risks, and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; merchandise;

« our ability to comply with privacy laws and regulations, as well as other legal obligations;

« domestic and global political and social conditions;

« geopolitical tensions, including relating to the ongoing war in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war;
» risks associated with climate change and other corporate responsibility issues; and

* uncertainties related to future legislation, regulatory reform, policy changes, or interpretive guidance on existing legislation.

If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results, performance, or achievements may vary materially
from what we have projected. Furthermore, new factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can management assess the impact of
any such factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Any
forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement
to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART |
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Three months
ended Nine months ended
Three months
ended
Three months
ended
Three months
ended
(unaudited  (unaudited
and in and in
thousands,  thousands,
except per except per
share share October October October October 29,
amounts) amounts) 28,2023 29,2022 28,2023 2022  (unaudited and in thousands, except per share amounts) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023
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Net sales Netsales  $786,329 $865,020 $2,320,628 $2,554,882

Cost of
Cost of sales sales (529,923) (579,201) (1,553,096) (1,697,648)

Gross profit  Gross profit 256,406 285,819 767,532 857,234

Operating Operating
expenses expenses  (230,788) (222,232) (665,437) (674,348)

Income from Income from

equity equity

investments investments 2,503 2,290 6,972 6,670

Impairment  Impairment

charges charges — (1,349) (649) (4,237)

Operating Operating

profit profit 28,121 64,528 108,418 185,319
Interest

Interest expense,

expense, net net (8,767)  (4,826) (22,296) (10,530)

Loss on extinguishment of
debt and write-off of debt
issuance costs — — — (12,862)

Non-operating income

(expense), net (162) (152) 83 (109)
Income before income

taxes 19,192 59,550 86,205 161,818
Income tax provision (8,987) (14,379) (27,372) (44,252)
Non-

operating

expenses, net

Income (loss)
before
income taxes
Income tax
benefit
(provision)

Netincome Net income 10,205 45,171 58,833 117,566

Net income attributable to

redeemable noncontrolling

interest (64) — (73) —
Net loss

(income)

attributable to

redeemable

noncontrolling

interest

Net income Netincome
attributable to attributable
Designer to Designer
Brands Inc. BrandsInc. $ 10,141 $ 45,171 $ 58,760 $ 117,566

Earnings per Earnings

share per share
attributable to attributable
Designer to Designer

Brands Inc.: Brands Inc.:
Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
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Basic Basic
earnings per earnings

share pershare $ 017 $ 0.70 $ 093 $ 1.71
Diluted Diluted

earnings per earnings

share pershare $ 017 $ 065 $ 0.90 $ 1.60
Weighted Weighted

average average

shares used shares used
in per share in per share
calculations: calculations:

Basic Basic
shares shares 58,633 64,245 62,860 68,924

Basic shares
Basic shares

Diluted Diluted
shares shares 61,405 69,140 65,292 73,287

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Three months Nine months
ended ended

Three months
ended

Three months
ended

Three months
ended

(unaudited and (unaudited and October October October October
in thousands) in thousands) 28,2023 29, 2022 28,2023 29, 2022 (unaudited and in thousands)

Net income Net income $10,205 $45,171 $58,833 $117,566

Other Other

comprehensive comprehensive

loss- loss-

Foreign Foreign

currency currency

translation translation

loss loss (2,501) (2,956) (2,041) (3,100)

Foreign currency translation
loss

Foreign currency translation
loss

Comprehensive income 7,704 42215 56,792 114,466

Comprehensive income
attributable to redeemable
noncontrolling interest (64) — (73) —

Comprehensive income
attributable to Designer Brands
Inc. $ 7,640 $42,215 $56,719 $114,466

Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss)
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Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive
loss (income)
attributable to
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest

Comprehensive
income (loss)
attributable to
Designer
Brands Inc.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(unaudited and in (unaudited and in October January 28, October 29,
thousands) thousands) 28, 2023 2023 2022  (unaudited and in thousands) May 4, 2024 February 3, 2024 April 29, 2023
ASSETS ASSETS

Current assets: Current assets:

Current assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash Cash and cash

equivalents equivalents $ 54,638 $ 58,766 $ 62,507
Receivables, net Receivables, net 106,916 77,763 228,746
Inventories Inventories 601,470 605,652 681,843

Prepaid expenses = Prepaid expenses
and other current and other current
assets assets 36,785 47,750 53,950

Total current assets  Total current assets 799,809 789,931 1,027,046

Property and Property and

equipment, net equipment, net 224,638 235,430 233,515
Operating lease Operating lease

assets assets 742,384 700,373 691,032
Goodwill Goodwill 123,759 97,115 93,655
Intangible assets, Intangible assets,

net net 83,032 31,866 19,273

Deferred tax assets = Deferred tax assets 47,199 48,285 —
Equity investments  Equity investments 62,239 63,820 64,246

Other assets Other assets 49,518 42,798 42,611
Total assets Total assets $2,132,578 $2,009,618 $2,171,378
LIABILITIES, LIABILITIES,

REDEEMABLE REDEEMABLE

NONCONTROLLING NONCONTROLLING
INTEREST, AND  INTEREST, AND
SHAREHOLDERS' SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY EQUITY

Current liabilities: Current liabilities:

Current liabilities:
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Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accounts payable = Accounts payable $ 310,113 $ 255,364 $ 315,996
Accrued expenses  Accrued expenses 183,383 190,676 213,905
Current maturities = Current maturities
of long-term debt of long-term debt 2,500 — —
Current operating Current operating
lease liabilities lease liabilities 182,259 190,086 187,619
Total current Total current
liabilities liabilities 678,255 636,126 717,520
Long-term debt Long-term debt 372,965 281,035 415,467
Non-current Non-current
operating lease operating lease
liabilities liabilities 669,494 631,412 628,820
Other non-current  Other non-current
liabilities liabilities 21,072 24,989 26,059
Total liabilities Total liabilities 1,741,786 1,573,562 1,787,866
Commitments and ~ Commitments and
contingencies contingencies Commitments and contingencies
Redeemable Redeemable
noncontrolling noncontrolling
interest interest 3,208 3,155 —
Shareholders' Shareholders'
equity: equity:
Common shares Common shares
paid in-capital, no paid in-capital, no
par value par value 1,028,307 1,018,872 1,012,794
Common shares paid in-capital, no par
value
Common shares paid in-capital, no par
value
Treasury shares, Treasury shares,
at cost at cost (764,748) (662,614) (662,614)
Retained earnings  Retained earnings 131,416 81,993 40,049
Accumulated Accumulated
other other
comprehensive comprehensive
loss loss (7,391) (5,350) (6,717)
Total shareholders' = Total shareholders'
equity equity 387,584 432,901 383,512
Total liabilities, Total liabilities,
redeemable redeemable

noncontrolling
interest, and

noncontrolling
interest, and

shareholders' equity shareholders' equity $2,132,578 $2,009,618 $2,171,378

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Number of Shares
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Class A Class B
(unaudited and in thousands, except per share Common Common Treasury Common Shares Treasury Retained Earnings Accumulated Other
amounts) Shares Shares Shares Paid in Capital Shares (Deficit) Comprehensive Loss Total
Three months ended October 28, 2023
Balance, July 29, 2023 56,143 7,733 34995 $ 1,025,662 $ (685,048) $ 124,094 $ (4,890) $ 459,818
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. — — — — — 10,141 — 10,141
Stock-based compensation activity 475 — — 2,645 — — — 2,645
Repurchase of Class A common shares (7,565) — 7,565 — (79,700) — — (79,700)
Dividends ($0.05 per share) = = = = = (2,819) — (2,819)
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — (2,501) (2,501)
Balance, October 28, 2023 49,053 7,733 42560 $ 1,028,307 $  (764,748) $ 131,416 $ (7,391) $ 387,584
Three months ended October 29, 2022
Balance, July 30, 2022 56,803 7,733 31594 $ 1,010,181 $ (643,563) $ (1,909) $ (3,761) $ 360,948
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. — — — — — 45171 — 45171
Stock-based compensation activity 373 — — 2,613 — — — 2,613
Repurchase of Class A common shares (1,288) — 1,288 — (19,051) — — (19,051)
Dividends ($0.05 per share) = = = = = (3,213) — (3,213)
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — (2,956) (2,956)
Balance, October 29, 2022 55,888 7,733 32,882 $ 1,012,794 $ (662,614) $ 40,049 $ (6,717) $ 383,512
Nine months ended October 28, 2023
Balance, January 28, 2023 55,921 7,733 32882 $ 1018872 $  (662,614) $ 81,993 $ (5,350) $ 432,901
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. — — —_ — — 58,760 — 58,760
Stock-based compensation activity 2,810 — — 9,435 — — — 9,435
Repurchase of Class A common shares (9,678) — 9,678 — (102,134) — — (102,134)
Dividends ($0.15 per share) = = —_ - - (9,337) — (9,337)
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — (2,041) (2,041)
Balance, October 28, 2023 49,053 7,733 42,560 $ 1,028,307 $ (764,748) $ 131,416 $ (7,391) $ 387,584
Nine months ended October 29, 2022
Balance, January 29, 2022 65,624 7,733 22,169 $ 1,005382 $  (515,065) $ (74,304) $ (3,617) $ 412,396
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. — — — — — 117,566 — 117,566
Stock-based compensation activity 977 — — 14,509 — — — 14,509
Repurchase of Class A common shares (10,713) — 10,713 — (147,549) — — (147,549)
Dividends ($0.15 per share) S S = (7,097) — (3,213) — (10,310)
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — (3,100) (3,100)
Balance, October 29, 2022 55,888 7,733 32,882 $ 1,012,794 $ (662,614) $ 40,049 $ (6,717) $ 383,512
Number of Shares Amounts
Class A Class B
(unaudited and in thousands, except per share Common Common Treasury Common Shares Retained Accumulated Other
amounts) Shares Shares Shares Paid in Capital Treasury Shares Earnings Comprehensive Loss Total
Three months ended May 4, 2024
Balance, February 3, 2024 49,491 7,733 42,560 $ 1,030,765 $ (764,802) 98,896 $ (5,639) $ 359,220
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. — — — — — 783 — 783
Stock-based compensation activity 569 — — 2,233 — — — 2,233
Dividends ($0.05 per share) = = - = = (2,861) — (2,861)
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — — (903) (903)
Balance, May 4, 2024 50,060 7,733 42,560 $ 1,032,998 $ (764,802) 96,818 $ (6,542) $ 358,472
Three months ended April 29, 2023
Balance, January 28, 2023 55,921 7,733 32,882 $ 1,018872 $ (662,614) 81,993 $ (5.350) $ 432,901
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. — — — — — 11,415 — 11,415
Stock-based compensation activity 2,057 — — (99) — — — (99)
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Dividends ($0.05 per share) — - —

Foreign currency translation loss = = —_

= (3,246)

(817) (817)

Balance, April 29, 2023 57,978 7,733 32,882 $ 1,018,773

(6,167) $ 440,154

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine months ended

Three months ended

(unaudited and  (unaudited and  October  October
in thousands)  in thousands) 28,2023 29,2022 (unaudited and in thousands)

Three months ended

April 29, 2023

Cash flows from Cash flows from

operating operating
activities: activities:
Net income Net income $ 58,833 $ 117,566

Adjustments to reconcile net
income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Net income

Net income

Adjustments to

reconcile net

income to net

cash provided

by (used in)

operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation Depreciation
and and
amortization amortization 47,801 64,754

Stock-based Stock-based
compensation  compensation

expense expense 25,167 22,327
Deferred Deferred

income taxes income taxes 875 (260)
Income from Income from

equity equity

investments investments (6,972) (6,670)
Distributions Distributions

received from received from

equity equity

investments investments 8,552 6,230
Impairment Impairment

charges charges 649 4,237

Loss on extinguishment of debt
and write-off of debt issuance
costs — 12,862

Other Other (1,977) 4,940
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Change in Change in

operating operating
assets and assets and
liabilities, net liabilities, net
of acquired of acquired
amounts: amounts:

Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables
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Accounts Accounts
receivables receivables  (21,462) (25,043)
Income tax Income tax
receivable receivable 997 (2,979)
Inventories Inventories 44,782 (98,789)
Prepaid Prepaid
expenses expenses
and other and other
current current
assets assets 5,998 (9,919)
Accounts Accounts
payable payable 57,374 (24,389)
Accrued Accrued
expenses expenses (6,926) (1,221)
Operating Operating
lease assets lease assets
and and
liabilities, liabilities,
net net (11,170) (25,706)
Net cash provided by operating
activities 202,521 37,940
Net cash
provided by
(used in)
operating
activities
Cash flows from Cash flows from
investing investing
activities: activities:
Cash paid for Cash paid for
property and property and
equipment equipment (42,315) (41,928)
Cash paid for property and
equipment
Cash paid for property and
equipment
Cash paid for business
acquisitions
Cash paid for business
acquisitions
Cash paid for Cash paid for
business business
acquisitions acquisitions (127,496) —
Equity investment in Le Tigre — (8,228)
Other
Other
Other Other — (5,853)
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Net cash used = Net cash used
in investing in investing
activities activities (169,811) (56,009)

Cash flows from Cash flows from
financing financing
activities: activities:
Borrowing on Borrowing on
revolving credit  revolving credit
facility facility 955,622 1,490,199
Borrowing on revolving credit
facility
Borrowing on revolving credit
facility
Payments on Payments on
revolving credit  revolving credit
facility facility (906,087) (1,074,733)
Proceeds from the issuance of
the Term Loan 50,000 —

Payments for borrowings and
prepayment premium under
Previous Term Loan —  (238,196)

Payments of debt issuance costs  (8,313) (2,316)
Cash paid for treasury shares (102,134) (147,549)

Payments for borrowings under
Term Loan

Payments for borrowings under
Term Loan

Payments for borrowings under
Term Loan

Dividends paid
Dividends paid
Dividends paid = Dividends paid (9,337) (10,310)

Cash paid for ~ Cash paid for
taxes for stock-  taxes for stock-
based based
compensation ~ compensation

shares shares
withheld withheld (15,732) (7,818)
Other Other (117) (31)
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities (36,098) 9,246
Net cash
provided by
financing
activities

Effect of Effect of

exchange rate  exchange rate
changes on cash changes on cash
balances balances (740) (1,361)

Net decrease in cash, cash

equivalents, and restricted cash (4,128) (10,184)
Cash, cash equivalents, and

restricted cash, beginning of

period 58,766 74,459

Cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash, end of period $ 54,638 $ 64,275

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

12/277

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Net decrease in
cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash
equivalents,
beginning of
period

Cash and cash
equivalents, end
of period

Supplemental  Supplemental
disclosures of  disclosures of

cash flow cash flow
information: information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 16,515 $ 43,027

Net cash received for income
taxes

Net cash received for income
taxes

Net cash received for income
taxes

Cash paid for Cash paid for
interest on debt interest on debt $ 18,536 $ 10,355
Cash paid for ~ Cash paid for
operating lease operating lease
liabilities liabilities $158,240 $ 169,328
Non-cash Non-cash
investing and investing and
financing financing
activities: activities:
Property and Property and
equipment equipment
purchases not  purchases not
yet paid yet paid $ 5,098 $ 6,011
Property and equipment
purchases not yet paid
Property and equipment
purchases not yet paid

Operating Operating

lease liabilities ~ lease liabilities

arising from arising from

lease asset lease asset

additions additions $ 16,217 $ 12,014

Net increase to  Net increase to

operating lease operating lease

assets and assets and

lease liabilities  lease liabilities

for for

modifications modifications  $150,699 $ 164,453

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Business Operations- Designer Brands Inc. is one of the world's largest designers, producers, and retailers of footwear and accessories. We operate in three reportable segments:
the U.S. Retail segment, the Canada Retail segment, and the Brand Portfolio segment. The U.S. Retail segment operates the DSW Designer Shoe Warehouse ("DSW") banner
through its direct-to-consumer U.S. stores and e-commerce site. The Canada Retail segment operates The Shoe Company, DSW, and DSW Rubino banners through its direct-to-
consumer Canada stores and e-commerce sites. The Brand Portfolio segment earns revenue from the wholesale of products to retailers and international distributors,

commission the sale of our branded products through direct-to-consumer e-commerce for the Vince Camuto, Keds, Hush Puppies, and Topo brands, and commissions for serving
retailers as the design and buying agent for products under private labels, and the sale of our branded products through direct-to-consumer e-commerce sites for the Vince Camuto,
Keds, Hush Puppies, and Topo brands. labels. Our equity investments in ABG-Camuto, LLC ("ABG-Camuto") and Le Tigre 360 Global LLC (“Le Tigre") are an integral part of the
Brand Portfolio segment.

We have a 40% 40.0% ownership interest in ABG-Camuto, a joint venture that owns the intellectual property rights of Vince Camuto and other brands. We are party to a licensing
agreement with ABG-Camuto, which provides for the exclusive right to design, source, and sell footwear and handbags under the brands that ABG-Camuto owns. In July 2022, we
acquired We have a 33.3% ownership interest in Le Tigre, which manages the Le Tigre brand. We are also party to a license agreement with Le Tigre, which provides for the
exclusive right to design, source, and sell Le Tigre-branded footwear. In addition, we own the licensing rights for footwear and handbags of the Lucky Brand and the licensing rights
for footwear of the Jessica Simpson brand and beginning in the third quarter of 2023, the Hush Puppies brand and we own the licensing rights for footwear and handbags of the
Lucky Brand. brand.

On February 4, 2023 April 8, 2024, we completed the acquisition of Rubino Shoes Inc. ("Rubino"), a retailer of branded footwear, handbags, and accessories that operates Rubino
banner stores and an e-commerce platform in Quebec, Canada. The acquisition of Rubino allows our Canada Retail segment to expand into the Keds business ("Keds") from
Wolverine World Wide, Inc. This expanded the reach province of our Owned Brands offerings, which refers to those brands that we have rights to sell through ownership or license
arrangements, into casual and athleisure footwear in the wholesale and direct-to-consumer e-commerce channels, complementing the additions of Le Tigre and Topo Athletic LLC
("Topo") during 2022. Quebec.

Basis of Presentation- The accompanying unaudited, condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. ("GAAP") for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, we do not include all of
the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. The accompanying financial statements reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of
management, necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented. All such adjustments are of a normal, recurring nature. The condensed consolidated
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for these interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in future periods. The balance
sheet as of January 28, 2023 February 3, 2024 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date. The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in the 2022 2023 Form 10-K.

Fiscal Year- Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31. References to a fiscal year (e.g., "2023""2024") refer to the calendar year in which the fiscal year begins.
This reporting schedule is followed by many national retail companies and typically results in a 52-week fiscal year (including 2022) 2024), but occasionally will contain an additional
week resulting in a 53-week fiscal year (including 2023).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Accounting Policies- The complete summary of significant accounting policies is included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements as presented in our 2022 2023 Form
10-K.

Principles of Consolidation- The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Designer Brands Inc. and its subsidiaries, including any variable interest
entities. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All amounts are in United States ("U.S.") dollars.

Table of contents

Use of Estimates- The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and reported amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting
periods. Certain estimates and assumptions use forecasted financial information based on information reasonably available to us. Significant estimates and assumptions are
required as a part of accounting for sales customer returns allowances, customer allowances and discounts reserve, allowances, gift card breakage income, deferred revenue
associated with loyalty programs, valuation of inventories, depreciation and amortization, impairments of long-lived assets, intangibles and goodwill, lease accounting, redeemable
noncontrolling interest, income taxes and valuation allowances on deferred tax assets, self-insurance reserves, and acquisitions. Although we believe that these estimates and
assumptions are reasonable, they are based on management's knowledge of current events and actions we may undertake in the future. Changes in facts and circumstances may
result in revised estimates and assumptions, and actual results could differ from these estimates.

Chief Executive Officer Transition- In January 2023, we announced our succession process relating to the Company's Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ") role, whereby our former
CEO, Roger Rawlins, stepped down from his role as CEO and as a member of the Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") effective April 1, 2023, at which time, Doug Howe,
who previously served as Executive Vice President of the Company and President of DSW, assumed the CEO role and joined the Board. Mr. Rawlins commenced service as a
strategic advisor to the Company and the Board effective April 1, 2023 through April 1, 2024 under the terms of a transition and consulting agreement. In conjunction with the CEO
transition, we estimate that the CEO transition costs will total $8.1 million, consisting of $2.2 million in severance costs, $2.8 million in accelerated stock-based compensation (net of
stock awards forfeited), and $3.1 million in retention stock awards to certain members of our leadership team and other related professional fees. During the three and nine months
ended October 28, 2023 April 29, 2023, we recognized $1.1 million and $4.0 million, respectively, $2.2 million of CEO transition costs in operating expenses on the condensed
consolidated statements of operations. Since the fourth quarter of 2022, we have recognized $7.7 million of There are no CEO transition costs with the remaining estimated $0.4
million to be recorded during the fourth quarter of 2023. for 2024.

Severance- During the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, we incurred severance costs excluding the severance related to the
CEO transition, of $1.9 million $2.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. During the nine months ended October 28, 2023 and October 29, 2022, we incurred severance costs,
excluding the severance related to the CEO transition, of $4.3 million and $1.2 million $2.1 million, respectively. These costs are included in operating expenses in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations. As of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, January 28, 2023 February 3, 2024, and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, we had $4.3 million $5.1
million, $5.7 million $3.9 million, and $0.7 million $4.7 million, respectively, of severance liability including the severance related to the CEO transition, included in accrued expenses
on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Income Taxes- For the three months ended May 4, 2024 and Restricted Cash- Cash April 29, 2023, our effective tax rate was 138.1% and cash
equivalents represent cash, money market funds, 10.3%, respectively. The high effective tax rate for the three months ended May 4, 2024 was due to discrete tax benefits, primarily
state tax planning initiatives and credit card receivables release of federal tax reserves no longer deemed necessary, that generally settle within approximated the amount of loss
before income taxes and the impact of permanent non-deductible compensation. The low effective tax rate for the three days. Restricted cash represented cash that months ended
April 29, 2023 was restricted as primarily due to withdrawal or usage net discrete tax benefits, including federal and consisted of a mandatory cash deposit maintained for certain
insurance policies and letters of credit. state valuation allowance adjustments, partially offset by permanent non-deductible compensation.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the condensed consolidated balance sheets that sum to the total of the
same such amounts shown on the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows:

(in thousands) October 28, 2023 January 28, 2023 October 29, 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 54,638 $ 58,766 $ 62,507
Restricted cash, included in prepaid expenses and other current assets — — 1,768

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the condensed consolidated
statements of cash flows $ 54,638 $ 58,766 $ 64,275

Fair Value- Fair value is defined as the price that would be received in the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized using defined hierarchical levels related to the subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair value
measurements as follows:

« Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
e Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable.

« Level 3 - Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists.
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The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and accounts payables approximated their fair values due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of borrowings
under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility ("ABL Revolver") Revolver and our new senior secured term loan credit agreement, as amended (“Term Loan"), Loan
approximated fair value based on the terms and variable interest rates.

2. ACQUISITIONS

ACQUISITION OF TOPO

On December 13, 2022Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements- In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update
("ASU") 2023-07, Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, we acquired which updates reportable segment disclosure requirements including, among other things,
enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses and information used to assess segment performance. ASU 2023-07 is effective on a 79.4% ownership interest in Topo
for $19.3 million in cash. retrospective basis to all prior periods presented beginning with our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K and subsequent interim periods. We have an
exclusive call option are currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07 to purchase the remaining 20.6% ownership interest in Topo upon the occurrence of certain events
or after a period of two years following the close notes of the transaction. The noncontrolling interest holders also have a put option with respect to the remaining 20.6% ownership
interest in Topo upon the occurrence of certain events or after a period of three years following the close of the transaction. The redemption price is defined in the operating

agreement and is based primarily on a fixed multiple of Topo's trailing 12 months of adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and other agreed upon
adjustments.

The final purchase price and the allocation of the total consideration to the fair values of the assets, liabilities, and redeemable noncontrolling interest consisted of the following:

Preliminary Purchase Price and

Allocation as of December 13, Measurement Period Final Purchase Price and
(in thousands) 2022 Adjustments Allocation as of April 29, 2023
Purchase price cash consideration $ 19,062 $ 193 $ 19,255
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired:
Accounts receivables $ 3,195 $ (150) $ 3,045
Inventories 5,612 (20) 5,592
Goodwill 3,460 868 4,328
Intangible assets 12,500 (500) 12,000
Other assets 1,898 — 1,898
Accounts payable and other liabilities (4,438) 5) (4,443)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (3,165) — (3,165)
$ 19,062 $ 193 $ 19,255

The fair value of the intangible assets relates to customer relationships and a tradename, which are amortized over a useful life of 10 and 15 years, respectively, and are based on
the excess earnings method under the income approach. The fair value measurements are based on significant unobservable inputs, including discounted future cash flows and
customer attrition rates. The fair value measurement of the redeemable noncontrolling interest was calculated by considering the implied fair value of Topo using the purchase price
and an estimated amount to redeem the noncontrolling interest. The goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired and was
primarily attributable to acquiring an established design and sourcing process for athletic footwear. Goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. During 2022, we
incurred $1.3 million of acquisition-related costs in connection with the acquisition of Topo, which was included in operating expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations. financial statements.
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2. ACQUISITIONS

ACQUISITION OF KEDS

On February 4, 2023, we acquired the Keds business ("Keds"), including the Keds brand, inventory, and inventory-related accounts payable, from Wolverine World Wide, Inc.
("Seller"). The cash consideration was funded with available cash and borrowings on the ABL Revolver.

The preliminary final purchase price and the allocation of the total consideration to the fair values of the assets and liabilities was finalized as of February 3, 2024, and consisted of
the following:

Preliminary Purchase Price and Measurement Period Preliminary Purchase Price and
(in thousands) Allocation as of February 4, 2023 Adjustments Allocation as of October 28, 2023
Purchase price:
Cash Consideration $ 109,360 $ 17,944 $ 127,304
Due to Seller 19,040 (19,040) —
Due from Seller for estimated contingent consideration (3,500) (5,399) (8,899)
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$ 124,900 $ (6,495) $ 118,405

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired:

Inventories $ 46,700 $ (4,184) $ 42,516
Goodwill 36,787 (11,011) 25,776
Intangible assets 44,800 8,700 53,500
Accounts payable (3,387) — (3,387)

$ 124,900 $ (6,495) $ 118,405

Final Purchase Price and
(in thousands) Allocation

Purchase price:

Cash Consideration $ 127,304
Due from Seller for estimated contingent consideration (8,899)

$ 118,405

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired:

Inventories $ 42,516
Goodwill 25,776
Intangible assets 53,500
Accounts payable (3,387)

$ 118,405

We recorded an allocation of the purchase price to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair value at the acquisition date.
The purchase price was subject to adjustments primarily based upon estimated contingent considerations as provided by the purchase agreement, which are were based on
recognized sales and incurred marketing costs for certain identified aged inventories and may result in the Seller paying us up to $15.0 million by March 2024. inventories. We
recorded an estimated amount due from Seller at fair value based on our estimated probability of the conditions being met requiring payment. Any subsequent changes Changes to
the contingent consideration will be recorded to earnings. The allocation of estimated amount due from Seller after we have finalized the purchase price is based on certain
preliminary valuations were recorded to earnings and analysis primarily related to the intangible assets that have not been completed as of the date of this filing. Subsequent
changes, if any, in the estimated fair values assumed upon the finalization of more detailed analysis within the measurement period will change the allocation of the purchase price
and will be adjusted during the period in which the amounts are determined. We expect to finalize the valuations during the fourth quarter of 2023. were immaterial.

The fair value of inventories, which iswere made up of finished goods, was determined based on market assumptions for realizing a reasonable profit after selling costs. The fair
value of the intangible assets relates to $46.9 million of an indefinite-lived tradename and $6.6 million of customer relationships, which is amortized over a useful life of 10 years,
and are were based on the excess earnings method under the income approach. approach with the relief from royalty method for the tradename. The fair value measurements

are were based on significant unobservable inputs, including discounted future cash flows, market-based assumed royalty rates, and customer attrition rates. The goodwill, included
within the Brand Portfolio segment, represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired and was primarily attributable to acquiring an
established design and sourcing process for casual footwear, including kids' footwear, with international distribution. Goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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ACQUISITION OF RUBINO
On April 8, 2024, we acquired Rubino for $16.7 million in cash, subject to a working capital adjustment to be determined by the end of the third quarter of 2024, along with $1.5
million in contingent consideration. The cash consideration was funded with available cash and borrowings on the ABL Revolver. The contingent consideration represents the

estimated fair value associated with a potential earn-out payment to the sellers of Rubino, which was estimated at the maximum potential amount, subject to Rubino's achievement
of a defined average annual financial performance target for the 24-month period following the acquisition.

The preliminary purchase price and the allocation of the total consideration to the fair values of the assets and liabilities consisted of the following:
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Preliminary Purchase Price and

(in thousands) Allocation as of April 8, 2024
Purchase Price:
Cash consideration $ 16,674
Contingent consideration 1,472
$ 18,146

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired:

Inventories $ 6,967
Operating lease assets 9,334
Goodwill 9,972
Intangible assets 3,166
Other assets 2,273
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (4,232)
Operating lease liabilities (9,334)

$ 18,146

We incurred $2.9 million recorded an allocation of acquisition-related costs in connection with the purchase price to the tangible assets and intangible tradename acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their fair value at the acquisition date. The contingent consideration and the allocation of Keds, the purchase price is based on certain preliminary
valuations and analysis that have not been completed as of the date of this filing. Any subsequent changes in the estimated fair values assumed upon the finalization of more
detailed analysis within the measurement period will change the allocation of the purchase price and will be adjusted during the period in which the amounts are determined. We
expect to finalize the valuations as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the acquisition date.

The fair value of the intangible asset relates to an indefinite-lived tradename and was included in determined using the relief from royalty method of the income approach. The fair
value measurements are based on significant unobservable inputs, including discounted future cash flows and an assumed royalty rate. The fair value of the operating

expenses lease assets was determined based on the consolidated statements market valuation approach. The goodwill, included within the Canada Retail segment, represents the
excess of operations. the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired and was primarily attributable to acquiring an established retail banner in a province in
Canada we did not previously have a presence in. Goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

COMBINED RESULTS OF ACQUIRED ENTITIES ENTITY

The results of operations for Topo and Keds Rubino for the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 were not material and are included in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations within the Brand Portfolio Canada Retail segment. Supplemental pro forma results of operations reflecting the acquisitions acquisition are not
presented as the impact on our consolidated financial results would not have been material.
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3. REVENUE

DISAGGREGATION OF NET SALES

Net Sales by Brand Categories- The following table presents net sales disaggregated by brand categories for each segment:

(in thousands) U.S. Retail Canada Retail Brand Portfolio Eliminations Consolidated

Three months ended October 28, 2023

Owned Brands:()

Direct-to-consumer $ 123,973 $ — $ 17,204 $ — $ 141,177
External customer wholesale, commission income, and other — — 61,905 — 61,905
Intersegment wholesale and commission income — — 14,948 (14,948) —
Total Owned Brands 123,973 — 94,057 (14,948) 203,082
National brands 507,637 — — — 507,637
Canada Retail) — 75,610 — — 75,610
Total net sales $ 631,610 $ 75,610 $ 94,057 $ (14,948) $ 786,329

Three months ended October 29, 2022

Owned Brands:()

Direct-to-consumer $ 153,311 $ — $ 9,810 $ — $ 163,121
External customer wholesale, commission income, and other — — 66,530 — 66,530
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Intersegment wholesale and commission income — — 31,118 (31,118) —
Total Owned Brands 153,311 — 107,458 (31,118) 229,651
National brands 553,080 — — — 553,080
Canada Retail) — 82,289 — — 82,289
Total net sales $ 706,391 $ 82,289 107,458 (31,118) $ 865,020
Nine months ended October 28, 2023
Owned Brands: ()
Direct-to-consumer $ 362,931 $ — 43,604 — 8 406,535
External customer wholesale, commission income, and other — — 174,155 — 174,155
Intersegment wholesale and commission income — — 53,498 (53,498) —
Total Owned Brands 362,931 — 271,257 (53,498) 580,690
National brands 1,540,107 — — — 1,540,107
Canada Retail) — 199,831 — — 199,831
Total net sales $ 1,903,038 $ 199,831 271,257 (53,498) $ 2,320,628
Table of contents
Canada Brand
(in thousands) (in thousands) U.S. Retail  Retail Portfolio Eliminations Consolidated (in thousands) U.S. Retail Canada Retail) Brand Portfolio Eliminations Consolidated

Nine months ended October
29, 2022

Three months ended May
4, 2024

Three months ended May
4, 2024

Three months ended May

4, 2024
Owned Owned
Brands:() Brands:@)

Owned Brands:()

Owned Brands:()
Direct-to-consumer
Direct-to-consumer
Direct-to-consumer

External
customer
wholesale,
commission
income, and
other

Intersegment
wholesale
Total Owned
Brands
National
brands
Total net sales
Three months
ended April
29, 2023

Owned Brands:()

Owned Brands:()
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Owned Brands:()
Direct-to-consumer

Direct-to-consumer

Direct-to- Direct-to-
consumer consumer $ 440,343 $ — $ 24,130 $ — $ 464,473
External External
customer customer

wholesale, wholesale,

commission ~ commission

income, and income, and

other other — — 170,665 — 170,665
Intersegment  Intersegment

wholesale wholesale

and and

commission = commission

income income — — 76,470 (76,470) —

Total Owned Total Owned

Brands Brands 440,343 — 271,265 (76,470) 635,138
National National
brands brands 1,702,856 - — — 1,702,856
Canada Retail) — 216,888 — — 216,888

Total net sales Total net sales $2,143,199 $216,888 $271,265 $ (76,470) $ 2,554,882

(1) "Owned Brands" refers to those brands that we have rights to sell through ownership or license arrangements. Beginning in the first quarter of 2023, sales of the Keds brand
are included in Owned Brands as a result of our acquisition of Keds. Sales of the Keds brand in periods prior to the first quarter of 2023 are not restated, as this brand was
considered a national brand during those periods.

(2) We currently do not report Beginning with the 2023 Form 10-K, we are providing a breakout of Canada Retail segment net sales by brand categories. categories and we have
recast the three months ended April 29, 2023 on a consistent basis.

Net Sales by Product and Service Categories- The following table presents net sales disaggregated by product and service
categories for each segment:

Three months
ended Nine months ended

Three months
ended

Three months
ended

Three months
ended

October October October October 29,

(in thousands) (in thousands) 28,2023 29,2022 28,2023 2022 (in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023
Net sales: Net sales:

U.S. Retail U.S. Retail

segment: segment:

U.S. Retail segment:
U.S. Retail segment:
Women's footwear

Women's footwear

Women's Women's

footwear footwear  $406,044 $450,130 $1,236,800 $1,394,340
Men's Men's

footwear footwear 136,455 151,106 419,008 461,035
Kids' Kids'

footwear footwear 54,521 65,638 143,978 171,742

Accessories  Accessories
and other and other 34,590 39,517 103,252 116,082

631,610 706,391 1,903,038 2,143,199
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621,367

Canada Canada
Retail Retail
segment: segment:

Women's footwear

Women's footwear

Women's Women's

footwear footwear 39,031 41,381 110,079 115,187
Men's Men's

footwear footwear 18,526 20,334 51,272 56,224
Kids' Kids'

footwear footwear 15,145 17,291 30,778 36,700

Accessories  Accessories
and other and other 2,908 3,283 7,702 8,777

75,610 82,289 199,831 216,888

Brand Portfolio segment:

Wholesale 74,099 95,837 219,592 237,748
Commission income and

other 2,754 1,811 8,061 9,387
Direct-to-consumer 17,204 9,810 43,604 24,130

94,057 107,458 271,257 271,265

Total segment net sales 801,277 896,138 2,374,126 2,631,352

Elimination of intersegment

sales (14,948) (31,118)  (53,498)  (76,470)

Total net sales $786,329 $865,020 $2,320,628 $2,554,882
55,512
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Three months ended

(in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023
Brand Portfolio segment:
Wholesale 88,670 80,784
Direct-to consumer 13,930 10,624
Commission income and other 1,530 1,575
104,130 92,983
Total segment net sales 781,009 759,824
Elimination of intersegment sales (34,413) (17,742)
Total net sales $ 746,596 $ 742,082

During the three months ended October 28, 2023, we identified an error in the classification of certain net sales categories for the U.S. Retail segment in the Net Sales by Product
and Service Categories table within Note 3, Revenue, of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the Quarterly Reports on Forms 10-Q for the first and second quarters
of 2023. The above table for the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 April 29, 2023 has been corrected to reflect the reduction of $22.2 million $8.3 million of U.S. Retail
segment net sales from accessories and other and increases of $10.0 million $4.0 million and $12.2 million $4.3 million of U.S. Retail segment net sales to women’s footwear and
men’s footwear, respectively, representing the impact of the error for the first and second quarters quarter of 2023. This immaterial correction did not impact the condensed
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), or balance sheets.

DEFERRED REVENUE LIABILITIES

We record deferred revenue liabilities, included in accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated balance sheets, for remaining obligations we have to our customers. The
following table presents the changes and total balances for gift cards and loyalty programs:

Three months Nine months
ended ended
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Three months
ended

Three months
ended

Three months

ended
(in (in October October October October
thousands) thousands) 28,2023 29, 2022 28, 2023 29, 2022 (in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023

Gift cards:  Gift cards:
Beginning of period
Beginning of period
Beginning Beginning
of period of period  $28,234 $30,118 $35,121 $36,783
Gift cards Gift cards
redeemed redeemed
and and
breakage breakage
recognized  recognized
to net sales to net sales (12,764) (14,341) (45,601) (50,896)
Gift cards Gift cards

issued issued 10,759 12,312 36,709 42,202
End of End of
period period $26,229 $28,089 $26,229 $28,089
Loyalty Loyalty

programs:  programs:
Beginning Beginning
of period of period  $16,762 $16,788 $16,900 $15,736
Beginning of period
Beginning of period
Loyalty Loyalty
certificates | certificates
redeemed = redeemed
and expired = and expired
and other and other
adjustments adjustments
recognized = recognized
to net sales tonetsales (7,434) (7,974) (22,861) (24,034)

Deferred Deferred

revenue for  revenue for

loyalty loyalty

points points

issued issued 7,923 8,795 23,212 25,907
End of End of

period period $17,251 $17,609 $17,251 $17,609

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

SCHOTTENSTEIN AFFILIATES

We have transactions with entities owned or controlled by Jay L. Schottenstein, the executive chairman of our Board, and members of his family (collectively, the (the "Schottenstein
Affiliates”). As of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, the Schottenstein Affiliates beneficially owned 26% approximately 25% of the Company's outstanding common shares, representing
62% approximately 61% of the combined voting power of the Company, consisting of, in the aggregate, 7.0 million Class A common shares and 7.7 million Class B common shares.

The following summarizes the related party transactions with the Schottenstein Affiliates for the relevant periods:

Table of contents

Leases- We lease certain store and office locations that are owned by the Schottenstein Affiliates. We also leased a fulfillment
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center from a Schottenstein Affiliate through September 2022 that was not renewed. For the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and October 29, 2022, we recorded
rent expense from leases with Schottenstein Affiliates of $2.0 million and $2.3 million, respectively. For the nine months ended October 28, 2023 and October 29, 2022 April 29,
2023, we recorded rent expense from the leases with Schottenstein Affiliates of $6.0 million $2.0 million and $7.3 million $1.9 million, respectively. As of October 28, 2023 May 4,
2024, January 28, 2023 February 3, 2024, and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, we had related party current operating lease liabilities of $4.6 million $4.0 million, $5.6 million, and
$5.4 million $5.2 million, respectively, and non-current operating lease liabilities of $17.7 million $18.9 million, $14.0 million $18.5 million, and $11.5 million $13.0 million, respectively.

Other Purchases and Services- For both the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, we had other purchases and services we
incurred from the Schottenstein Affiliates of $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively. For the nine months ended October 28, 2023 and October 29, 2022, we had other purchases
and services we incurred from the Schottenstein Affiliates of $2.0 million and $3.7 million $0.6 million, respectively.

Due to Related Parties- Amounts due to the Schottenstein Affiliates, other than operating lease liabilities, were immaterial for all periods presented.
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EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

ABG-Camuto- We have a 40% 40.0% ownership interest in ABG-Camuto. We are party to a licensing agreement with ABG-Camuto, pursuant to which we pay royalties on the net
sales of the brands owned by ABG-Camuto, subject to guaranteed minimums. For the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, we
recorded royalty expense for amounts paid to ABG-Camuto of $4.5 million $4.8 million and $4.6 million, respectively. For the nine months ended October 28, 2023 and October 29,

2022, we recorded royalty expense for amounts paid to ABG-Camuto of $13.6 million and $13.7 million $4.5 million, respectively.

Le Tigre- In July 2022, we acquired We have a 33.3% ownership interest in Le Tigre. We are also party to a license agreement with Le Tigre, whereby pursuant to which we pay
royalties on our the net sales of the Le Tigre brand, subject to guaranteed minimums. Activity with Le Tigre was immaterial for all periods presented.

5. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is based on net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. and the weighted average of Class A and Class B common shares outstanding. Diluted
earnings per share reflects the potential dilution of common shares adjusted for outstanding stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs") calculated using the treasury stock
method.

The following is a reconciliation between basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding, as used in the calculation of earnings per share attributable to Designer Brands
Inc.:

Three months Nine months
ended ended

Three months
ended

Three months
ended

Three months
ended

October October October October
(in (in 28, 29, 28, 29,
thousands) thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022 (in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023
Weighted Weighted
average basic average basic
shares shares
outstanding  outstanding 58,633 64,245 62,860 68,924

Dilutive effect Dilutive effect

of stock- of stock-

based based

compensation compensation

awards awards 2,772 4,895 2,432 4,363
Weighted Weighted

average average

diluted shares diluted shares
outstanding  outstanding 61,405 69,140 65,292 73,287

For the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, the number of shares relating to potentially dilutive stock-based compensation
awards that were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive effect was 2.4 2.8 million and 2.7 million, respectively. For the nine months
ended October 28, 2023 and October 29, 2022, the number of shares relating to potentially dilutive stock-based compensation awards that were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive effect was 3.3 million and 2.8 4.5 million, respectively.
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6. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation expense, included in operating expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of operations, consisted of the following:

Three months ended Nine months ended
(in thousands) October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022 October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022
Stock options $ — $ — 8 — 3 101
Restricted and director stock units 6,138 6,364 25,167 22,226
$ 6,138 $ 6,364 $ 25,167 $ 22,327
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6. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

For the three months ended May 4, 2024 and April 29, 2023, we recorded stock-based compensation expense of $5.6 million and $11.7 million, respectively, which is included in
operating expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes the stock-based compensation award share activity for RSUs for the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024:

Shares
of
Time-  Shares of
(in (in Based Performance-
thousands) thousands) RSUs Based RSUs (in thousands) Shares of Time-Based RSUs Shares of Performance-Based RSUs

Outstanding Outstanding 6,790 969
- beginning - beginning
of period  of period

Granted Granted 2,586 813
Vested Vested (4,107) (249)
Forfeited  Forfeited (519) (250)
Outstanding Outstanding 4,750 1,283
- end of- end of

period period

7. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

SHARES

Our Class A common shares are listed for trading under the ticker symbol "DBI" on the New York Stock Exchange. There is currently no public market for the Company's Class B
common shares, but the Class B common shares can be converted into the Company's Class A common shares at the election of the holder on a share-for-share basis. Holders of
Class A common shares are entitled to one vote per share and holders of Class B common shares are entitled to eight votes per share on matters submitted to shareholders for
approval.

The following table provides additional information for our common shares:

(in (in
thousands) thousands) October 28,2023 January 28, 2023 October 29, 2022 (in thousands) May 4, 2024 February 3, 2024 April 29, 2023

Class A ClassB ClassA ClassB Class A ClassB

Class A Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B
Authorized Authorized
shares shares 250,000 100,000 250,000 100,000 250,000 100,000

Issued Issued
shares shares 91,613 7,733 88,803 7,733 88,770 7,733

Outstanding Outstanding
shares shares 49,053 7,733 55921 7,733 55888 7,733

Treasury  Treasury
shares shares 42,560 — 32,882 — 32,882 —

We have authorized 100 million shares of no par value preferred shares, with no shares issued for any of the periods presented.
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DIVIDENDS

On November 16, 2023, the Board declared a quarterly cash dividend payment of $0.05 per share for both Class A and Class B common shares. The dividend will be paid on
December 14, 2023 to shareholders of record at the close of business on November 30, 2023.

SHARE REPURCHASES

On August 17, 2017, the Board authorized the repurchase of an additional $500.0 million of Class A common shares under our share repurchase program, which was added to the
$33.5 million remaining from the previous authorization. On June 8, 2023, we commenced a modified "Dutch Auction” tender offer (the "Tender Offer"), to purchase up to $100.0
million of the Company's Class A common shares. The Tender Offer expired on July 7, 2023 and on July 12, 2023, we repurchased 1.5 million Class A common shares under the
Tender Offer at a purchase price of $10.00 per share and at an aggregate cost of $15.1 million, including transaction costs. During the nine months ended October 28, 2023, we
repurchased an aggregate of 9.7 million Class A common shares, including open market purchases and the 1.5 million Class A common shares purchased under the Tender Offer,
at an aggregate cost of $102.1 million, including transaction costs and excise tax. Share repurchases were funded from the proceeds from our Term Loan. As of October 28,

2023 May 4, 2024, $87.7 million of Class A common shares remained available for repurchase under the share repurchase program. The share repurchase program may be
suspended, modified, or discontinued at any time, and we have no obligation to repurchase any amount of our Class A common shares under the program. Under the share
repurchase program, shares will be repurchased in the open market at times and in amounts considered appropriate based on price and market conditions.

DIVIDENDS

On May 15, 2024, the Board declared a quarterly cash dividend payment of $0.05 per share for both Class A and Class B common shares. The dividend will be paid on June 18,
2024 to shareholders of record at the close of business on June 5, 2024.
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8. RECEIVABLES

Receivables, net, consisted of the following:

(in (in October January October

thousands) thousands) 28,2023 28,2023 29, 2022 (in thousands) May 4, 2024 February 3, 2024 April 29, 2023
Customer Customer

accounts accounts

receivables: receivables:

Receivables with payment
guarantee by third-party
provider

Receivables with payment
guarantee by third-party
provider

Receivables Receivables

with with

payment payment

guarantee guarantee

by third- by third-

party party

provider provider $ 39,858 $19,539 $ 53,304
Receivables Receivables

without without

payment payment

guarantee guarantee 8,517 5,241 2,572
Income tax  Income tax

receivable receivable 43,024 44,021 165,218
Other Other

receivables receivables 15,879 9,274 8,729
Total Total

receivables receivables 107,278 78,075 229,823

Allowance for
doubtful
accounts

Allowance for
doubtful
accounts (362) (312) (1,077)

$106,916 $77,763 $228,746
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9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GOODWILL

The following table presents the changes to goodwill by segment:

Nine months ended

(in thousands)

October 28, 2023

October 29, 2022

Accumulated

Accumulated

Goodwill Impairments Net Goodwill Impairments Net
Beginning of period by segment:
U.S. Retail $ 93,655 — 8 93,655 $ 93,655 $ — $ 93,655
Canada Retalil 41,357 (41,357) — 43,114 (43,114) —
Brand Portfolio 23,449 (19,989) 3,460 19,989 (19,989) —
158,461 (61,346) 97,115 156,758 (63,103) 93,655
Activity by Segment:
Canada Retail-
Currency translation adjustment (1,619) 1,619 — (2,671) 2,671 —
Brand Portfolio:
Purchase price and allocation adjustments for
acquisition of Topo 868 — 868 — — —
Acquired Keds goodwill 25,776 — 25,776 — — —
25,025 1,619 26,644 (2,671) 2,671 —
End of period by segment:
U.S. Retail 93,655 — 93,655 93,655 — 93,655
Canada Retail 39,738 (39,738) — 40,443 (40,443) =
Brand Portfolio 50,093 (19,989) 30,104 19,989 (19,989) —
$ 183,486 (59,727) $ 123,759 $ 154,087 $ (60,432) $ 93,655
Table of contents
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consisted of the following:
Accumulated
(in thousands) Cost Amortization Net
October 28, 2023
Definite-lived customer relationships $ 14,299 $ (3,580) $ 10,719
Definite-lived tradename 11,953 (899) 11,054
Indefinite-lived trademarks and tradenames 61,259 — 61,259
$ 87,511 $ (4,479) $ 83,032
January 28, 2023
Definite-lived customer relationships $ 7,852 $ (1,454) $ 6,398
Definite-lived tradename 10,853 (292) 10,561
Indefinite-lived trademarks and tradenames 14,907 — 14,907
$ 33612 $ (1,746) $ 31,866
October 29, 2022
Definite-lived customer relationships $ 1322 $ 1,322) $ =
Definite-lived tradename 4,853 (162) 4,691
Indefinite-lived trademarks and tradenames 14,582 — 14,582
$ 20,757 $ (1,484) $ 19,273
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10. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

(in (in October January October

thousands)  thousands) 28,2023 28,2023 29, 2022

Gift cards Gift cards $ 26,229 $ 35,121 $ 28,089

Accrued Accrued 22,863 45,019 38,815

compensation compensation

and related  and related

expenses expenses

Accrued Accrued 30,035 19,419 30,689

taxes taxes

Loyalty Loyalty 17,251 16,900 17,609

programs programs

deferred deferred

revenue revenue

Sales returns allowances 20,977 18,107 19,722

Customer allowances and 1,883 1,230 1,921

discounts

Customer

returns and

allowances

Other Other 64,145 54,880 77,060
$183,383 $190,676 $213,905

Other

Other

$
11.10. DEBT

Debt consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

May 4, 2024

February 3, 2024

April 29, 2023

(in thousands)

October 28, 2023

January 28, 2023

October 29, 2022

ABL Revolver 330,571 $ 281,035 $ 415,467
Term Loan 50,000 = =
Total debt 380,571 281,035 415,467
Less unamortized Term Loan debt issuance costs (5,106) — —
Less current maturities of long-term debt (2,500) — —
Long-term debt 372,965 $ 281,035 $ 415,467
Table of contents
As of October 28, 2023, future maturities of debt are as follows:
(in thousands)
Remainder of 2023 $ 1,250
2024 2,500
2025 2,500
2026 2,500
2027 371,821
Total $ 380,571
(in thousands) May 4, 2024 February 3, 2024 April 29, 2023
ABL Revolver 351,296 $ 301,070 $ 390,302
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Term Loan 131,437 133,125 —

Total debt 482,733 434,195 390,302
Less unamortized Term Loan debt issuance costs (6,655) (7,101) —
Less current maturities of long-term debt (6,750) (6,750) —
Long-term debt $ 469,328 $ 420,344 $ 390,302

ABL REVOLVER

On March 30, 2022, we replaced our previous senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility with our current ABL Revolver, which was subsequently amended on February 28,
2023 and June 23, 2023. The amended ABL Revolver provides a revolving line of credit of up to $600.0 million, including a Canadian sub-limit of up to $60.0 million, a $75.0 million
sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit, a $60.0 million sub-limit for swing-loan advances for U.S. borrowings, and a $6.0 million sub-limit for swing-loan advances for Canadian
borrowings. In addition, the ABL Revolver includes a first-in last-out term loan (“FILO Term Loan") of up to $30.0 million, which was drawn in full on February 28, 2023. The FILO
Term Loan may be repaid in full, but not in part, so long as certain payment conditions are satisfied. Once repaid, no portion of the FILO Term Loan may be reborrowed. Our ABL
Revolver matures in March 2027 and is secured by a first-priority lien on substantially all of our personal property assets, including credit card receivables and inventory. The ABL
Revolver may be used to provide funds for working capital, capital expenditures, share repurchases, other expenditures, and permitted acquisitions as defined by the credit facility
agreement. The amount of credit available is limited to a borrowing base formulated on, among other things, a percentage of the book value of eligible inventory and credit card
receivables, as reduced by certain reserves. As of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, the revolving
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line of credit (excluding the FILO Term Loan) had a borrowing base of $518.9 million $514.0 million, with $300.6 million $321.3 million in outstanding borrowings and $5.0 million $4.9
million in letters of credit issued, resulting in $213.3 million $187.8 million available for borrowings.

Borrowings under the revolving line of credit and letters of credit issued under the ABL Revolver accrue interest, at our option, at a rate equal to: (A) a base rate per annum equal to
the greatest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) the Fed Funds Rate (as defined in the credit facility agreement and subject to a floor of 0%) plus 0.5%, and (i) Adjusted Term SOFR (as defined
in the credit facility agreement) plus 1.0%; or (B) a one-month, three-month, or six-month Adjusted Term SOFR per annum (subject to a floor of 0%), plus, in each instance, an
applicable rate to be determined based on average availability. The FILO Term Loan accrues interest, at our option, at a rate equal to: (A) a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal
to the greatest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) the Fed Funds Rate plus 0.5%, or (iii) Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.0%, plus 2.5%; or (B) Adjusted Term SOFR for the interest period in effect
for such borrowing plus 3.5%. Commitment fees are based on the unused portion of the ABL Revolver available for borrowings. Interest expense related to the ABL Revolver
includes interest on borrowings and letters of credit, with an interest rate of 7.6% 7.5% as of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, commitment fees, and the amortization of debt issuance
costs.

TERM LOAN

On June 23, 2023, we entered into the Term Loan which provides for aand have since borrowed the maximum aggregate principal amount of $135.0 million, during 2023, consisting
of (A) borrowings at closing of a $45.0 million $121.5 million U.S. loan and a $5.0 million $13.5 million Canadian loan (denominated in USD) and (B) delay draw loans available to
borrow up to $76.5 million in U.S. loans and $8.5 million in Canadian loans (denominated in USD). The Term Loan was amended on September 21, 2023 to extend the date through
which the delay draw loans remain available, and on October 31, 2023, we borrowed $25.0 million of the delay draw loans with any remaining delay draw loans to be taken by
January 31, 2024. The Term Loan matures at the earliest of the date the ABL Revolver matures (currently March 2027) or five years from closing of the Term Loan (June 2028). The
Term Loan is collateralized by a first priority lien on substantially all of our personal, real, and intellectual property and by a second priority lien on the assets used as collateral for
the ABL revolver, primarily credit card receivables, accounts receivable, and inventory.

Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at a per annum rate equal to: (A) an adjusted three-month SOFR per annum (subject to a floor of 2.0%), plus 7.0%; or if (A) is not
available, then (B) a base rate per annum equal to the greater of (i) 2.0%, (ii) the prime rate, (iii) the Fed Funds Rate plus 0.5%, and (iv) the Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.0%; plus, in
each instance, 6.0%, with an interest rate of 12.5% 12.4% (effective interest rate of 13.4% 13.8% when including the amortization of debt issuance costs) as of October 28,

2023 May 4, 2024.

Table of contents

DEBT COVENANTS

The ABL Revolver requires us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio covenant of not less than 1:1 when availability is less than the greater of $47.3 million or 10.0% of the
maximum borrowing amount. At any time that liquidity is less than $100.0 million, the Term Loan requires a maximum consolidated net leverage ratio as of the last day of each fiscal
month, calculated on a trailing twelve-month basis, of (1) 2.25 to 1.00 for any trailing twelve-month period through February 3, 2024, and (2) 2.50 to 1.00 thereafter. Testing of the
consolidated net leverage ratio ends after liquidity has been greater than or equal to $100.0 million for a period of 45 consecutive days. The ABL Revolver and the Term Loan also
contain customary covenants restricting certain activities, including limitations on our ability to sell assets, engage in acquisitions, enter into transactions involving related parties,
incur additional debt, grant liens on assets, pay dividends or repurchase stock, and make certain other changes. There are specific exceptions to these covenants including, in some
cases, upon satisfying specified payment conditions based on availability. The ABL Revolver and the Term Loan contain customary events of default, including failure to comply with
certain financial and other covenants. Upon an event of default that is not cured or waived within the cure periods, in addition to other remedies that may be available to the lenders,
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our obligations may be accelerated, outstanding letters of credit may be required to be cash collateralized, and remedies may be exercised against the collateral. As of October 28,
2023 May 4, 2024, we were in compliance with all financial covenants contained in the ABL Revolver and the Term Loan.

TERMINATION OF PREVIOUS TERM LOAN
On February 8, 2022, we settled in full the $231.3 million principal amount outstanding on that date under our previous senior secured term loan agreement ("Previous Term Loan").
In connection with this settlement, during the nine months ended October 29, 2022, we incurred a $12.7 million loss on extinguishment of debt, composed of a $6.9 million

prepayment premium and a $5.7 million write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

12.11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are involved in various legal proceedings that are incidental to the conduct of our business. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the eventual outcome of any
litigation, we believe the amount of any potential liability with respect to current legal proceedings will not be material to our results of operations or financial condition. As additional

information becomes available, we will assess any potential liability related to pending litigation and revise the estimates as needed.
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GUARANTEES

We provide guarantees a guarantee for a lease obligations obligation that are is scheduled to expire in2025 2027 for locations a location that have has been leased to a third
parties. party. If athe third party does not pay the rent or vacates vacate the premise, premises, we may be required to make full rent payments to the landlord. As of October 28,
2023 May 4, 2024, the total future payment requirements payments for these guarantees the guarantee were approximately $5.5 million $3.7 million.
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13.12. SEGMENT REPORTING

The following table provides certain financial data by segment reconciled to the condensed consolidated financial statements:

Canada  Brand (in u.s.
(in thousands) (in thousands) U.S. Retail  Retail Portfolio Eliminations Consolidated thousands) Retail Canada Retail Brand Portfolio Eliminations Consolidated
Three months ended October
28, 2023
Three months ended May 4,
2024
Three months ended May 4,
2024
Three months ended May 4,
2024
Net sales: Net sales:
Net sales:
Net sales:
External customer sales
External customer sales
External External
customer customer
sales sales $ 631,610 $ 75,610 $ 79,109 $ — $ 786,329
Intersegment.  Intersegment
sales sales — — 14,948 (14,948) —
Total net Total net
sales sales $ 631,610 $ 75,610 $ 94,057 $ (14,948) $ 786,329

Gross profit Gross profit $ 200,268 $ 26,606 $ 28,654 $ 878 $ 256,406

Income from Income from

equity equity
investments investments  $ — $ — $ 2503 $ — $ 2,503
Three months ended October
29, 2022
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Three months
ended April 29,
2023

Net sales: Net sales:

Net sales:

Net sales:
External customer sales

External customer sales

External External

customer customer

sales sales $ 706,391 $ 82,289 $ 76,340 $ — $ 865,020
Intersegment  Intersegment

sales sales — — 31,118 (31,118) —
Total net Total net

sales sales $ 706,391 $ 82,289 $107,458 $ (31,118) $ 865,020

Gross profit Gross profit ~ $ 232,058 $ 31,298 $ 23,839 $ (1,376) $ 285,819

Income from Income from

equity equity

investments investments  $ — $ — $ 229 $ — $ 2,290
Nine months ended October

28, 2023

Net sales:

External customer sales $1,903,038 $199,831 $217,759 $ — $ 2,320,628
Intersegment sales — — 53,498 (53,498) —
Total net sales $1,903,038 $199,831 $271,257 $ (53,498) $ 2,320,628
Gross profit $ 622,850 $ 67,591 $ 75,037 $ 2,054 $ 767,532
Income from equity investments $ — $ — $ 6,972 $ — $ 6,972
Nine months ended October 29,

2022

Net sales:

External customer sales $2,143,199 $216,888 $194,795 $ — $ 2,554,882
Intersegment sales — — 76,470 (76,470) —
Total net sales $2,143,199 $216,888 $271,265 $ (76,470) $ 2,554,882
Gross profit $ 716,268 $ 81,145 $ 59,975 $ (154) $ 857,234
Income from equity investments $ — $ — $ 6,670 $ — $ 6,670

Beginning in 2024, we changed how the Brand Portfolio segment sources certain Owned Brands for the U.S. Retail segment by transacting using a wholesale model, where
intersegment sales and cost of sales are recorded, whereas in 2023 and prior we transacted on a commission model, where intersegment sales were based on a percentage of
product cost. This change results in an increase in Brand Portfolio intersegment net sales, cost of sales, and gross profit and a corresponding increase in the amount of eliminated
intersegment net sales, cost of sales, and gross profit with no impact to consolidated net sales and cost of sales.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND TRENDS IN OUR BUSINESS

For the third first quarter of 2028, 2024, net sales saldecreased 9.1% and es increased 0.6% and total comparable sales sales decreased 9.3% 2.5% compared to the same period
last year. Net sales during During the third first quarter of 2023 2024, net sales from our Owned Brands decreased 11.6% compared to the same period last year, with Owned Brands
representing 25.8% represented 24.5% of consolidated net sales, down from 26.5% 27.8% for the same period last year. At the beginning of 2023, we completed the acquisition of
Keds, expanding our Owned Brands' reach into casual and athleisure footwear in the wholesale and direct-to-consumer e-commerce channels and complementing the additions of
Le Tigre and Topo during 2022. We believe these acquisitions represent significant steps taken toward our long-term goal of net sales from our Owned Brands reaching one-third of
total sales by 2026. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the third first quarter of 2023 2024 was 40 80 basis points lower higher when compared to the same period last year,
primarily due to improvements from the Brand Portfolio segment as we achieved significant improvements in product costing and did not have the same level of closeout sales as
we did in the first quarter of 2023 as we were managing through excess inventory from last year's acquired brands.
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Beginning in 2024, we changed how the Brand Portfolio segment sources certain Owned Brands for the U.S. Retail segment by transacting using a wholesale model, where
intersegment sales and cost of sales are recorded, whereas in 2023 and prior we transacted on a commission model, where intersegment sales were based on a percentage of
product cost. This change results in an increase in Brand Portfolio intersegment net sales, cost of sales, gross profit, and gross profit as a percentage of net sales and a
corresponding increase in the amount of eliminated intersegment net sales, cost of sales, and gross profit with no impact to promotional pricing consolidated net sales and the
deleveraging effect cost of lower sales on fixed occupancy costs, which more than offset lower logistics costs including freight, shipping, and distribution.sales.

EFFECTS OF GLOBAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Throughout 2023, During the first quarter of 2024, our comparable sales declined as we experienced lower traffic and a downturn decrease in global the number of units per
transaction. We believe this is a result of ongoing concern among consumers of negative and/or uncertain economic conditions, most notably the growing concerns of a potential
recession, rising fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pressures, changes in employment levels, and significant foreign currency volatility, has adversely impacted discretionary
consumer income levels and spending for our customers. volatility. Consumer spending on discretionary items, including our products, generally declines during periods of economic
uncertainty, when disposable income is reduced, or when there is a reduction in consumer confidence. We are unable to predict the severity of macroeconomic uncertainty, whether
or when such circumstances may improve or worsen, or the full impact such circumstances could have on our business.

During the second half of 2022 and continuing into 2023, our net sales declined as we experienced lower traffic and became more promotional under a more competitive landscape.
Competitive pricing pressure has been exacerbated by a more promotional retail environment as the industry experienced a shift from tighter inventory positions to excess inventory
and as macroeconomic conditions continue to impact discretionary consumer spending. These factors ultimately could require us to enact mitigating operating efficiency measures
that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations, and results of operations.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND OTHER KEY METRICS

For the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024:
* Net sales decreased increased to $786.3 million $746.6 million from $865.0 million $742.1 million for the same period last year.
* Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 32.6% 32.8% compared to 33.0% 32.0% for the same period last year.

* Netincome attributable to Designer Brands Inc. was $10.1 million $0.8 million, or $0.01 per diluted share, which included net after-tax charges of $4.0 million, or $0.07 per
diluted share, primarily related to restructuring and integration costs. For the three months ended April 29, 2023, net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. was $11.4
million, or $0.17 per diluted share, compared to $45.2 million which included net after-tax charges of $2.8 million, or $0.65 per diluted share, for $0.04, primarily related to the
same period last year. CEO transition, restructuring, integration, and acquisition costs, partially offset by the valuation change on deferred tax assets.

Comparable Sales Performance Metric- The following table presents the percent change in comparable sales for each segment and in total:

Three months ended

October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022

Three months ended

Three months ended

Three months ended

May 4, 2024
May 4, 2024
May 4, 2024
Change in comparable sales:
Change in comparable sales:
Change in comparable Change in comparable
sales: sales:
U.S. Retail segment U.S. Retail segment (9.8) % 1.1 %
U.S. Retail segment
U.S. Retail segment
Canada Retail segment
Canada Retail segment
Canada Retail segment Canada Retail segment (7.7) % 18.8 %
Brand Portfolio segment - ~ Brand Portfolio segment -
direct-to-consumer channel = direct-to-consumer channel 7.0 % 27.0 %
Brand Portfolio segment - direct-to-consumer channel
Brand Portfolio segment - direct-to-consumer channel
Total Total (9.3) % 3.0 %
Total
Total
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We consider the percent change in comparable sales from the same previous year period, a primary metric commonly used throughout the retail industry, to be an important
measurement for management and investors of the performance of our direct-to-consumer businesses. We include in our comparable sales metric sales from stores in operation for
at least 14 months at the beginning of the applicable year. Stores are added to the comparable base at the beginning of the year and are dropped for comparative purposes in the
quarter in which they are closed. Comparable sales include the e-commerce sales of the U.S. Retail and Canada Retail segments. For calculating comparable sales in 2024,
periods in 2023 are shifted by one week to compare similar calendar weeks. Comparable sales for the Canada Retail segment exclude the impact of foreign currency translation and
are calculated by translating current period results at the foreign currency exchange rate used in the comparable period of the prior year. Comparable sales include the e-commerce
net sales of the Brand Portfolio segment from the direct-to-consumer e-commerce site sites for the Vince Camuto brand. The and Topo. Net sales from the direct-to-consumer e-
commerce sales sites for Topo, Keds and Hush Puppies will be added to the comparable base for the Brand Portfolio segment beginning with the first quarter of 2024, the second
quarter of 2024 and the third quarter of 2024, respectively. Stores added as a result of the Rubino acquisition that will have been in operation for at least 14 months at the beginning
of 2025, along with its e-commerce sales, will be added to the comparable base beginning with the second quarter of 2025. The calculation of comparable sales varies across the
retail industry and, as a result, the calculations of other retail companies may not be consistent with our calculation.

Number of Stores- As of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, we had the following number of stores:

October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022
May 4, 2024
May 4, 2024
May 4, 2024
U.S. Retail segment - DSW stores
U.S. Retail segment - DSW stores
U.S. Retail segment - DSW  U.S. Retail segment - DSW
stores stores 499 504
Canada Retail segment: Canada Retail segment:
Canada Retail segment:
Canada Retail segment:
The Shoe Company stores
The Shoe Company stores
The Shoe Company stores The Shoe Company stores 119 113
DSW stores DSW stores 25 25
144 138
DSW stores
DSW stores
Rubino stores
Rubino stores
Rubino stores
175
175
175
Total number of stores Total number of stores 643 642

Total number of stores

Total number of stores
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THIRD FIRST QUARTER OF 2024 COMPARED WITH FIRST QUARTER OF 2023 COMPARED WITH THIRD QUARTER OF 2022

(amounts in  (amounts in Three months ended
thousands, thousands,

except per  except per
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share share
amounts) amounts) October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022
% of % of
Net Net
Amount Sales Amount Sales
May 4, 2024
May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023
% of Net
Amount Amount Sales Amount
Net sales Net sales  $786,329 100.0 % $865,020 100.0 % $(78,691) (9.1)% Net sales $746,596 100.0 100.0 % $ 742,082 100.0
Cost of
Cost of sales sales (529,923) (67.4) (579,201) (67.0) (8.5)% Cost of sales (501,527) (67.2) (67.2) (504,343) (504,343) (68.0)
Gross profit  Gross profit 256,406 32.6 285,819 33.0 (29,413) (10.3)% Gross profit 245,069 32.8 32.8 237,739 237,739 32.0
Operating Operating Operating
expenses expenses  (230,788) (29.4) (222,232) (25.7) 3.9 % expenses (238,551) (32.0) (32.0) (220,119) (220,119) (29.6)
Income from Income from Income from
equity equity equity
investments investments 2,503 0.3 2,290 0.3 9.3 % investments 2,864 0.5 0.5 2,331 2,331 0.2
Impairment  Impairment Impairment
charges charges — — (1,349) (0.2) NM charges — —_ —_ (341) (341) —
Operating Operating Operating
profit profit 28,121 3.5 64,528 7.4 (36,407) (56.4)% profit 9,382 1.3 1.3 19,610 19,610 2.6
Interest
Interest expense, Interest
expense, net net (8,767) (1.1) (4,826) (0.5) (3,941) 81.7 % expense, net  (11,561) (1.6) (1.6) (6,597) (6,597) (0.9)
Non-operating expense,
net (162) — (152) —
Income before income
taxes 19,192 24 59,550 6.9 (40,358) (67.8)%
Income tax provision (8,987) (1.1) (214,379) (1.7)
Non-operating expenses,
net
Non-operating expenses,
net
Non-operating expenses,
net (143) = (334)
Income (loss) Income (loss)
before before
income taxes income taxes (2,322) (0.3) 12,679
Income tax Income tax
benefit benefit
(provision) (provision) 3,207 0.4 (1,306)
Netincome Netincome 10,205 1.3 45,171 5.2 (34,966) (77.4)% Net income 885 0.1 0.1 11,373 11,373 15
Net income attributable to
redeemable noncontrolling
interest (64) — — —
Net loss Net loss
(income) (income)
attributable to attributable to
redeemable redeemable
noncontrolling noncontrolling
interest interest (102) — 42
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Netincome Netincome Net income

attributable to attributable attributable to
Designer to Designer Designer
Brands Inc. Brandsinc. $ 10,141 1.3 % $ 45171 5.2 % $(35,030) (77.5)%Brands Inc. $ 783 0.1 0.1 % $ 11,415 15
Earnings per Earnings
share per share
attributable to attributable
Designer to Designer
Brands Inc.: Brands Inc.:
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic Basic
earnings per earnings
share pershare $  0.17 $ 070 $ (0.53) (75.7)%$ 0.01 $ $0.18
Diluted Diluted Diluted
earnings per earnings earnings per
share pershare $ 0.17 $ 0.65 $ (0.48) (73.8)% share $ 0.01 $ $
Weighted Weighted
average average
shares used shares used
in per share in per share
calculations: calculations:
Basic Basic
shares shares 58,633 64,245 (5,612) (8.7)%
Basic shares
Basic shares 57,464 64,371
Diluted Diluted Diluted
shares shares 61,405 69,140 (7,735) (11.2)% shares 59,470 67,042
NM - Not meaningful
Table of contents
NET SALES
The following table summarizes net sales by segment:
Three months ended
Three months ended
(dollars in  (dollars in
thousands) thousands)  October 28,2023  October 29, 2022 Change
% of % of
Segment Segment
Net Net Comparable
Amount Sales Amount Sales  Amount % Sales
(dollars in thousands)
(dollars in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 20z
% of
Segment
Net
Amount Amount Sales
Segment net Segment net
sales: sales:
U.S. Retall
U.S. Retail
U.S. Retail U.S. Retail $631,610 78.8 % $706,391 78.8 % $(74,781) (10.6)% (9.8) %$621,367 79.6 796 % $612,886
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Canada Canada Canada

Retail Retail 75,610 9.5 82,289 9.2 (6,679) (8.1)% (7.7) % Retalil 55,512 71 71 53,955

Brand Brand Brand

Portfolio Portfolio 94,057 11.7 107,458 12.0 (13,401) (12.5)% 7.0 % Portfolio 104,130 13.3 13.3 92,983
Total

Total Total segment

segment segment net

net sales net sales 801,277 100.0 % 896,138 100.0 % (94,861) (10.6)% (9.3) % sales 781,009 100.0 100.0 % 759,82

Elimination  Elimination

of of

intersegment intersegment

net sales net sales (14,948) (31,118) 16,170 (52.0)%

Consolidated Consolidated
net sales net sales $786,329 $865,020 $(78,691) (9.1)%

Consolidated net sales

Consolidated net sales

For the three months ended October 28, 2023, May 4, 2024, net sales decreased increased in the U.S. Retail segment with $68.0 million primarily due to added net sales of the
decline $23.3 million due to the calendar shift as a result of 2023 containing an additional week, offset by the decrease in comparable sales and the majority of the remaining
decrease due to the impact of store closures since the end of the third quarter of 2022. sales. The decrease in comparable sales for the U.S. Retail segment was largely driven by a
decrease in comparable transactions of approximately 6%, driven by lower traffic, and a decrease in the comparable average sales amounts per transaction of 3% due to lower
units per transaction, partially offset by an increase in comparable transactions of approximately 4% 1% as we were conversion rates more promotional than we were during the
same period last year. offset lower traffic. Net sales decreased increased in the Canada Retail segment primarily also due to lower comparable salthe calendes. The ar shift as well
as the impact of new stores opened since the end of the first quarter of 2023, partially offset by a decrease in comparable sales for the Canada Retail segment was primarily driven
by lower comparable average sales amount per transaction. Netsales. The increase in net sales for the Brand Portfolio segment decreased with approximately $34.0 million of the
decline was primarily due to lower a change in how we source certain Owned Brands for the U.S. Retail segment from a commission model, where sales are based on a percentage
of product cost, to a wholesale model, where sales as retailer customers continued to pull back on orders, partially offset primarily fromand cost of sales are recorded. This change
also resulted in the increase in intersegment net sales added from acquired Topo and Keds businesses. that are eliminated.

GROSS PROFIT

The following table summarizes gross profit by segment:

Three months ended

Three months ended

(dollars in  (dollars in

thousands) thousands)  October 28,2023  October 29, 2022 Change
% of % of
Segment Segment
Net Net Basis

Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount % Points

(dollars in thousands)

May 4,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 April 29, 2023 Change
% of Segment Net % of Segment Net Basis

Amount Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount % Points
Segment Segment
gross profit: gross profit:
U.S. Retail
U.S. Retail
U.S. Retail U.S. Retail $200,268 31.7 % $232,058 32.9 % $(31,790) (13.7)% (120)
Canada Canada
Retail Retail 26,606 352 % 31298 380 % (4,692) (15.0)% (280)
Brand Brand
Portfolio Portfolio 28,654 305 % 23839 222 % 4,815 20.2% 830
Total Total
segment segment
gross profit gross profit 255,528 31.9 % 287,195 32.0 % (31,667) (11.00% (10)
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Net Net

recognition  recognition

(elimination) (elimination)

of of

intersegment intersegment

gross profit  gross profit 878 (1,376) 2,254

Consolidated Consolidated
gross profit  gross profit $256,406 32,6 9% $285,819 330 9 $(29,413) (10.3)% (40)

Consolidated gross profit

Consolidated gross profit

The decrease increase in consolidated gross profit for the U.S. Retail and Canada Retail segments was primarily driven by the decrease increase in consolidated net sales

during during the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 over the same period last year, partially offset by lower freight and shipping costs for all segments and lower
distribution costs in the U.S. Retail segment as we realized the benefit of moving our digital fulfillment activities from our Ohio location to our New Jersey location. year. Gross profit
as a percentage of net sales decreased by 120 basis points for the U.S. Retail segment when compared to the same period last year primarily due to promotional pricing and a
change in mix of products sold, whereas the deleveraging effect of lower sales on fixed store occupancy costs, which more than offset lower logistics costs including freight,
shipping and distribution. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased 280 basis points decrease for the Canada Retail segment whenwas primarily due to the increase in
store occupancy costs with new stores and renewed leases resulting in slight increases in rent. The increase in gross profit for the Brand Portfolio segment was primarily driven by
higher margin rates on wholesale sales as well as the transition of certain Owned Brands sourced for the U.S. Retail segment under a wholesale model as discussed above, which
also resulted in the net elimination of intersegment gross profit during the first quarter of 2024 as compared to the net recognition of intersegment gross profit for the same period

Table of contents

last year primarily due (refer to a mix shift in sales towards lower margin products and the deleveraging effect of lower sales on fixed store occupancy costs. table below). Gross
profit as a percentage of net sales increased 830 basis points for the Brand

Table of contents
Portfolio segment when compared to with the same period transition of certain Owned Brands sourced for the U.S. Retail segment under a wholesale model, as well as significant
improvements we achieved in product costing and a lower level of closeout sales than the first quarter of 2023 as we managed through excess inventory from last year, primarily

due to the change in mix of products sold, improved inventory positions, and lower freight costs.year's acquired brands.

The net recognition (elimination) of intersegment gross profit consisted of the following:

Three months
ended

Three months ended Three months ended

October October
(in thousands) (in thousands) 28,2023 29, 2022 (in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023

Intersegment  Intersegment
recognition and recognition and
elimination elimination
activity: activity:
Net sales recognized by Brand
Portfolio segment $(14,948) $(31,118)
Elimination of net sales
recognized by Brand Portfolio
segment
Elimination of net sales
recognized by Brand Portfolio
segment
Elimination of net sales
recognized by Brand Portfolio
segment
Cost of sales:  Cost of sales:

Cost of sales recognized by
Brand Portfolio segment 9,857 21,426
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Elimination of cost of sales
recognized by Brand Portfolio
segment

Elimination of cost of sales
recognized by Brand Portfolio
segment

Elimination of cost of sales
recognized by Brand Portfolio
segment

Recogpnition Recogpnition
of of
intersegment  intersegment

gross profit gross profit
for inventory for inventory
previously previously
purchased purchased
that was that was
subsequently  subsequently
sold to sold to
external external
customers customers
during the during the
current current
period period 5,969 8,316
$ 878 $ (1,376)
$
OPERATING EXPENSES

For the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, operating expenses increased by $8.6 million $18.4 million over the same period last year, primarily driven by an
increase in incentive compensation as we did not recognize incentive compensation last year based on the performance of the business, an increase in marketing

expenses expense as we invested more in brand awareness for the newly acquired brands in the Brand Portfolio segment, and the additional operating higher store selling expenses
from the acquired businesses, partially offset by lower store payroll in line with lower with the increase in retail sales. Operating expenses, as a percentage of net sales, increased
370240 basis points over the same period last year due to higher marketing the increase in operating expenses and being greater than the deleveraging of costs on lower increase
in net sales.

INTEREST EXPENSE, NET

For the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, interest expense, net, increased by $3.9 million $5.0 million over the same period last year, primarily driven by overall
higher interest rates on our debt, with higher rates on the ABL Revolver over the same period last year, and the addition of the Term Loan.
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NINE MONTHS OF 2023 COMPARED WITH NINE MONTHS OF 2022

Nine months ended

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022 Change
Amount % of Net Sales Amount % of Net Sales Amount %
Net sales $ 2,320,628 100.0% $ 2,554,882 1000 % $ (234,254) (9.2)%
Cost of sales (1,553,096) (66.9) (1,697,648) (66.4) 144,552 (8.5)%
Gross profit 767,532 33.1 857,234 33.6 (89,702) (10.5)%
Operating expenses (665,437) (28.7) (674,348) (26.4) 8,911 (1.3)%
Income from equity investments 6,972 0.3 6,670 0.3 302 4.5 %
Impairment charges (649) — (4,237) (0.2) 3,588 (84.7)%
Operating profit 108,418 4.7 185,319 7.3 (76,901) (41.5)%
Interest expense, net (22,296) (1.0) (10,530) (0.4) (11,766) 111.7 %
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Loss on extinguishment of debt and write-off of debt

issuance costs — — (12,862) (0.5) 12,862 NM
Non-operating income (expense), net 83 — (109) — 192 NM
Income before income taxes 86,205 3.7 161,818 6.4 (75,613) (46.7)%
Income tax provision (27,372) 1.2) (44,252) .7 16,880 (38.1)%
Net income 58,833 25 117,566 47 (58,733) (50.0)%
Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling
interest (73) — — — (73) NM
Net income attributable to Designer Brands Inc. $ 58,760 25% $ 117,566 47% $ (58,806) (50.0)%
Earnings per share attributable to Designer Brands Inc.:

Basic earnings per share 0.93 1.71 $ (0.78) (45.6)%

Diluted earnings per share 0.90 1.60 $ (0.70) (43.8)%
Weighted average shares used in per share calculations:

Basic shares 62,860 68,924 (6,064) (8.8)%

Diluted shares 65,292 73,287 (7,995) (10.9)%
NM - Not meaningful
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NET SALES
The following table summarizes net sales by segment:

Nine months ended
(dollars in thousands) October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022 Change
% of Segment Net % of Segment Net
Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount % Comparable Sales

Segment net sales:

U.S. Retalil $ 1,903,038 80.2% $ 2,143,199 815% $ (240,161) (11.2)% (10.2)%

Canada Retalil 199,831 8.4 216,888 8.2 (17,057) (7.9)% (4.8)%

Brand Portfolio 271,257 11.4 271,265 10.3 (8) — % 6.0 %

Total segment net sales 2,374,126 100.0 % 2,631,352 100.0 % (257,226) 9.8)% (9.5)%
Elimination of intersegment net sales (53,498) (76,470) 22,972 (30.0)%
Consolidated net sales $ 2,320,628 $ 2,554,882 $ (234,254) (9.2)%

For the nine months ended October 28, 2023, net sales decreased in the U.S. Retail segment with $214.0 million of the decline due to the decrease in comparable sales and the
majority of the remaining decrease due to the impact of store closures since the end of the third quarter of 2022. The decrease in comparable sales for the U.S. Retail segment was
largely driven by a decrease in comparable transactions of approximately 7%, driven by lower traffic, and a decrease in the comparable average sales amounts per transaction of
approximately 3% as we were more promotional than we were during the same period last year. Net sales decreased in the Canada Retail segment with $10.5 million of the decline
due to the decrease in comparable sales and the majority of the remaining decrease due to the unfavorable impact from foreign currency translation. The decrease in the
comparable sales for the Canada Retail segment was impacted primarily by lower comparable average sales amount per transaction. Net sales for the Brand Portfolio segment
were flat to last year with the net sales added from the acquired Topo and Keds businesses offset by lower wholesale sales as retailer customers pulled back on orders.

GROSS PROFIT

The following table summarizes gross profit by segment:

Nine months ended

(dollars in thousands) October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022 Change
% of Segment Net % of Segment Net
Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount % Basis Points
Segment gross profit:
U.S. Retail $ 622,850 327% $ 716,268 334% $ (93,418) (13.0)% (70)
Canada Retail 67,591 33.8 % 81,145 37.4 % (13,554) (16.7)% (360)
Brand Portfolio 75,037 27.7 % 59,975 221 % 15,062 25.1 % 560
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Total segment gross profit 765,478 322 % 857,388 32.6 % (91,910) (10.7)% (40)

Net recognition (elimination) of

intersegment gross profit 2,054 (154) 2,208
Consolidated gross profit $ 767,532 331% $ 857,234 336% $ (89,702) (10.5)% (50)

The decrease in consolidated gross profit was primarily driven by the decrease in consolidated net sales during the nine months ended October 28, 2023 over the same period last
year, partially offset by lower freight and shipping costs for all segments and lower distribution costs in the U.S. Retail segment as we realized the benefit of moving our digital
fulfillment activities from our Ohio location to our New Jersey location. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased 70 basis points for the U.S. Retail segment when
compared to the same period last year, primarily due to the deleveraging effect of lower sales on fixed store occupancy costs, as well as being more promotional, partially offset by
lower logistics costs including freight, shipping, and distribution. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased 360 basis points for the Canada Retail segment when
compared to the same period last year, primarily due to a mix shift in sales towards lower margin products and the deleveraging
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effect of lower sales on fixed store occupancy costs. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales increased 560 basis points for the Brand Portfolio segment when compared to the
same period last year, primarily due to the change in mix of products sold, improved inventory positions, and lower freight costs.

The net recognition (elimination) of intersegment gross profit consisted of the following:

Nine months ended

(in thousands) October 28, 2023 October 29, 2022
Intersegment recognition and elimination activity:
Net sales recognized by Brand Portfolio segment $ (53,498) $ (76,470)
Cost of sales:
Cost of sales recognized by Brand Portfolio segment 38,134 52,149
Recognition of intersegment gross profit for inventory previously purchased that was subsequently sold to external
customers during the current period 17,418 24,167
$ 2,054 $ (154)
OPERATING EXPENSES

For the nine months ended October 28, 2023, operating expenses decreased by $8.9 million over the same period last year, primarily driven by a decrease in incentive
compensation and store payroll in line with lower net sales, partially offset by an increase in CEO transition, restructuring, integration, and acquisition costs, as well as the additional
operating expenses from the acquired businesses. Operating expenses, as a percentage of net sales, increased 230 basis points over the same period last year, due to the lower
net sales as we deleveraged our costs.

INTEREST EXPENSE, NET INCOME TAXES

For the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 and April 29, 2023, interest expense, net, increased by $11.8 million over our effective tax rate was 138.1% and
10.3%, respectively. The high effective tax rate for the same period last year, three months ended May 4, 2024 was due to discrete tax benefits, primarily driven by overall higher
interest rates on our debt, with higher rates on state tax planning initiatives and release of federal tax reserves no longer deemed necessary, that approximated the ABL Revolver
over the same period last year amount of loss before income taxes and the addition impact of permanent non-deductible compensation. The low effective tax rate for the Term Loan.

LOSS ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT AND WRITE-OFF OF DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

In connection with the settlement of our Term Loan on February 8, 2022, during the nine three months ended October 29, 2022, we incurred a $12.7 million loss on extinguishment
of debt, composed of a $6.9 million prepayment premium April 29, 2023 was primarily due to net discrete tax benefits, including federal and a $5.7 million write-off of unamortized
debt issuance costs. As a result of the replacement of the ABL Revolver during 2023, we also wrote off $0.2 million of debt issuance costs. state valuation allowance adjustments,

partially offset by permanent non-deductible compensation.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

OVERVIEW

Our primary ongoing operating cash flow requirements are for inventory purchases, payments on lease obligations and licensing royalty commitments, other working capital needs,
capital expenditures, and debt service. Our working capital and inventory levels fluctuate seasonally.

During 2023, we had the following significant transactions that impacted our liquidity:
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*On February 4, 2023 April 8, 2024, we completed the acquisition of Keds with $127.3 million acquired Rubino for $16.7 million in cash, consideration, funded with available cash
and borrowings on the ABL Revolver.

* On February 28, 2023, the ABL Revolver was amended to increase the available capacity under the revolving line of credit from $550.0 million to $600.0 million and to add a
FILO Term Loan of up to $30.0 million, which was drawn in full, subject to a borrowing base.

e On June 23, 2023 June 3, 2024, we entered into received $46.9 million from the Internal Revenue Service representing the final amount due, plus interest, as a Term Loan
that provides for a maximum aggregate principal amount of $135.0 million, which is made up of $50.0 million in loans taken during the second quarter of 2023 and delay
draw loans available to borrow up to $85.0 million.
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* The Term Loan was amended on September 21, 2023 to extend the date through which the delay draw loans remain available and on October 31, 2023, we borrowed $25.0
millionresult of the delay draw loans with any remaining delay draw loans Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act. We intend to be taken by January 31, 2024.

* We repurchased an aggregate 9.7 million Class A common shares, including open market purchases and purchases under the Tender Offer, at an aggregate cost of $102.1
million, including transaction costs and excise tax, under our share repurchase program. As of October 28, 2023, $87.7 million of Class A common shares remained
available for repurchase under the share repurchase program. use these proceeds to pay down debt.

We are committed to a cash management strategy that maintains liquidity to adequately support the operation of the business, pursue our growth strategy, and withstand
unanticipated business volatility, including the impacts of the global economic conditions on our results of operations. We believe that cash generated from our operations, together

with our current levels of cash, as well as the availability under our ABL Revolver, and Term Loan, are sufficient to maintain our ongoing operations, support seasonal
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working capital requirements, fund acquisitions and capital expenditures, repurchase common shares under our share repurchase program, and meet our debt service obligations
over the next 12 months and beyond.

The following table presents the key categories of our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows:

Nine months ended

Three months ended

(in (in October October
thousands) thousands) 28,2023 29,2022 Change

Net cash provided by
operating activities $202,521 $ 37,940 $164,581

(in thousands)

(in thousands) May 4, 2024 April 29, 2023 Change

Net cash

provided

by (used

in)

operating

activities

Net cash  Net cash

used in used in

investing  investing

activities  activities  (169,811) (56,009) (113,802)
Net cash provided by

(used in) financing

activities (36,098) 9,246  (45,344)
Net cash

provided

by

financing

activities

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 40/277
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Effect of  Effect of

exchange exchange

rate rate

changes changes

oncash  oncash

balances balances (740) (1,361) 621

Net decrease in cash,
cash equivalents and
restricted cash $ (4,128) $(10,184) $ 6,056

Net
decrease

in cash and
cash
equivalents

OPERATING CASH FLOWS

The increase For the three months ended May 4, 2024, we had net cash used in operations as compared to net cash provided by operations for the same period last year. This
change was largely driven by lower higher spend on working capital during the nine months ended October 28, 2023 over the same period last year, due to the decreased as we
increased our investment in inventory with the slowdown in sales, as discussed above inventories, partially offset by no incentive compensation for 2023 being paid in the results first
quarter of operations, 2024 whereas we did pay incentive compensation for 2022 in the first quarter of 2023, and the timing of payments on liabilities, which was partially offset by
the decrease in net income recognized in the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 over the same period last year after adjusting for non-cash activity, including
depreciation and amortization and stock-based compensation activity. As of May 4, 2024, our inventories remain below the loss on extinguishmentamount as of debt and write-

off April 29, 2023. Also, during the first quarter of debt issuance costs. 2023, much of the inventory buildup came from the acquisition of Keds, which is included in investing cash
flows. Other changes in working capital were the result of timing of payments with the calendar shift.

INVESTING CASH FLOWS

For the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to the acquisition of Keds the Rubino business for $127.3
million $16.7 million and capital expenditures of $42.3 million $15.9 million relating to infrastructure and IT projects and new stores, and store improvements. including relocations.
For the nine three months ended October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to the acquisition of the Keds business of $109.4 million and
capital expenditures of $41.9 million $14.4 million relating to infrastructure and IT projects and store improvements as well as our $8.2 million investment in Le Tigre. relocation and
improvements.

FINANCING CASH FLOWS

For the nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, net cash used in provided by financing activities was primarily due to the repurchase net receipts of 9.7 million Class
A common shares at an aggregate cost $50.2 million from our ABL Revolver, which was primarily used to fund our working capital investments and the acquisition of $102.1

million, Rubino, partially offset by payments of $15.7 million $3.3 million for taxes for stock-based compensation shares withheld and payments of dividends of $9.3 million, partially
offset by proceeds from the issuance of the Term Loan of $50.0 million and net receipts of $49.5 million from our ABL Revolver. $2.9 million for dividends. For the nine three months
ended October 29, 2022 April 29, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was primarily due to net receipts of $415.5 million $109.4 million from our revolving lines of

credit, ABL Revolver, which was used primarily to fund the Keds business acquisition, partially offset by payments of $238.2 million $11.8 million for the settlement of the Previous
Term Loan, the repurchase of 10.7 million Class A common taxes for stock-based compensation shares at an aggregate cost of $147.5 million, and the payments of dividends of
$10.3 million. withheld.
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DEBT

ABL Revolver- On March 30, 2022, we replaced our previous senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility with our current ABL Revolver, which was subsequently amended
on February 28, 2023 and June 23, 2023. The amended ABL Revolver provides a revolving line of credit of up to $600.0 million, including a Canadian sub-limit of up to $60.0 million,
a $75.0 million sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit, a $60.0 million sub-limit for swing-loan advances for U.S. borrowings, and a $6.0 million sub-limit for swing-loan
advances for Canadian borrowings. In addition, the ABL Revolver includes a FILO Term Loan of up to $30.0 million, which was drawn in full on February 28, 2023. The FILO Term
Loan may be repaid in full, but not in part, so long as certain payment conditions are satisfied. Once repaid, no portion of the FILO Term Loan may be reborrowed. Our The ABL
Revolver, which matures in March 2027, and is secured by a first-priority lien on substantially all of our personal property assets, including credit card receivables and inventory. The
ABL Revolver may be used to provide funds for working capital, capital expenditures, share repurchases, other expenditures, and permitted acquisitions as defined by the credit
facility agreement. The amount of credit available is limited to a borrowing base formulated on, among other things, a percentage of the book value of eligible inventory and credit
card receivables, as reduced by certain reserves. As of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, the revolving line of credit (excluding the FILO Term Loan) had a borrowing base of $518.9
million $514.0 million, with $300.6 million $321.3 million in outstanding borrowings and $5.0 million $4.9 million in letters of credit issued, resulting in $213.3 million $187.8 million
available for borrowings.
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Term Loan- On June 23, 2023, we entered into a Term Loan that provides for aand have since borrowed the maximum aggregate principal amount of $135.0 million, which is made
up of (a) borrowings at closing of a $45.0 million U.S. loan and a $5.0 million Canadian loan (denominated in USD) and (b) delay draw loans available to borrow up to $76.5 million
in U.S. loans and $8.5 million in Canadian loans (denominated in USD). The Term Loan was amended on September 21, 2023 to extend the date through which the delay draw
loans remain available, and on October 31, 2023, we borrowed $25.0 million of the delay draw loans with any remaining delay draw loans to be taken by January 31, 2024. The
Term Loan matures at the earliest of the date the ABL Revolver matures (currently March 2027) or five years from closing of the Term Loan (June 2028). The Term Loan is
collateralized by a first priority lien on substantially all

Table of our personal, real, and intellectual property and by a second priority lien on the assets used as collateral for the ABL revolver, primarily credit card receivables, accounts receivable, and inventory. contents

Debt Covenants- The ABL Revolver required us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio covenant of not less than 1:1 when availability is less than the greater of $47.3 million or
10.0% of the maximum borrowing amount. At any time that liquidity is less than $100.0 million, the Term Loan requires a maximum consolidated net leverage ratio as of the last day
of each fiscal month, calculated on a trailing twelve-month basis, of (1) 2.25 to 1.00 for any trailing twelve-month period through February 3, 2024, and (2) 2.50 to 1.00 thereafter.
Testing of the consolidated net leverage ratio ends after liquidity has been greater than or equal to $100.0 million for a period of 45 consecutive days. The ABL Revolver and the
Term Loan also contain customary covenants restricting certain activities, including limitations on our ability to sell assets, engage in acquisitions, enter into transactions involving
related parties, incur additional debt, grant liens on assets, pay dividends or repurchase stock, and make certain other changes. There are specific exceptions to these covenants
including, in some cases, upon satisfying specified payment conditions based on availability. As of October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, we were in compliance with all financial covenants
contained in the ABL Revolver and the Term Loan.

Termination of Previous Term Loan- On February 8, 2022, we settled in full the $231.3 million principal amount outstanding on that date under our Previous Term Loan. In
connection with this settlement, during the nine months ended October 29, 2022, we incurred a $12.7 million loss on extinguishment of debt, composed of a $6.9 million prepayment
premium and a $5.7 million write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

Refer to Note 11, 10, Debt, of the condensed consolidated financial statements of this Form 10-Q for further information about our debt arrangements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PLANS FOR CAPITALIZED COSTS

We During 2024, we expect to spend approximately $55.0 million $65.0 million to $60.0 million $75.0 million that will be capitalized for capital expenditures in 2023, $42.3

million property and equipment and implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements accounted for as service contracts, $17.4 million of which was spent during the

nine three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024. Our future investments will depend primarily on the number of stores we open and remodel, infrastructure and IT projects
that we undertake, and the timing of these expenditures.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

There are noThe information related to recent accounting pronouncements that are expected to have a material impact to our as set forth in Note 1, Description of Business and
Significant Accounting Policies - Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, of the condensed consolidated financial statements when adopted. included in this Form 10-Q is
incorporated herein by reference.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of commitments and contingencies at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. We base these estimates and judgments on factors we believe to be relevant, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The process of determining significant estimates is fact-specific and takes into
account factors such as historical experience, current and expected economic conditions, product mix, and in some cases, actuarial and valuation techniques. We constantly re-
evaluate these significant factors and make adjustments where facts and circumstances dictate. While we believe that the factors considered provide a meaningful basis for the
accounting policies applied in the preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements, we cannot guarantee that our estimates and assumptions will be accurate. As the
determination of these estimates requires the exercise of judgment, actual results may differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to our condensed
consolidated financial statements. There have been no material changes to the application of critical accounting policies and estimates disclosed in our 20222023 Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We have market risk exposure related to interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. There have been no material changes in our primary risk exposures or management of
market risks from those disclosed in our 2022 2023 Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
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EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange

Act")). Based on that
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evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded, as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-Q, that such disclosure controls and procedures
were effective.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

No change was made in our internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d -15(e), during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART Il

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth in Note 12 11, Commitments and Contingencies - Legal Proceedings, of the condensed consolidated financial statements of this Form 10-Q is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

As of the date of this filing, there have been no material changes to the risk factors as set forth in Part I, Item 1A., Risk Factors, in our 2022 2023 Form 10-K.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

On August 17, 2017, the Board authorized the repurchase of an additional $500.0 million of Class A common shares under our share repurchase program, which was added to the
$33.5 million remaining from the previous authorization. The share repurchase program may be suspended, modified, or discontinued at any time, and we have no obligation to
repurchase any amount of our Class A common shares under the program. Under this share repurchase program, shares will be repurchased in the open market at times and in
amounts considered appropriate based on price and market conditions.

The following table sets forth the Class A common shares repurchased during the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024:

(© (d)
Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value
(a) (b) Purchased as Part of of Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
(in thousands, except per share amounts) Purchased Share Programs Programs
July 30, 2023 to August 26, 2023 4,457 $ 10.11 4454 $ 121,415
August 27, 2023 to September 30, 2023 3,380 $ 10.99 3,111 $ 87,677
October 1, 2023 to October 28, 2023 6 $ 11.86 — $ 87,677
7,843 g 10.49 7,565
(©) (d
Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value
(a) (b) Purchased as Part of of Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
(in thousands, except per share amounts) Purchased () Share Programs Programs
February 4, 2024 to March 2, 2024 4 $ 9.19 — $ 87,677
March 3, 2024 to April 6, 2024 292 $ 11.21 — 3 87,677
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April 7, 2024 to May 4, 2024 13 $ 9.55 — 3 87,677

309 g 11.12 =

(1) The total number of shares repurchased includes shares repurchased as part of publicly announced programs and 278,015 represents shares withheld in connection with tax
payments due upon vesting of stock-based compensation awards.

DIVIDENDS

The payment of any future dividends is at the discretion of our Board and is based on our future earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, changes in taxation
laws, general economic condition and any other relevant factors. We anticipate declaring It is anticipated that dividends will be declared on a quarterly basis.

OOn November 16, 2023 n May 15, 2024, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend payment of $0.05 per share for both Class A and Class B common shares. The
dividend will be paid on December 14, 2023 June 18, 2024 to shareholders of record at the close of business on November 30, 2023 June 5, 2024.

Table of contents

RESTRICTIONS

The ABL Revolver and the Term Loan contain customary covenants restricting our activities, including limitations on the ability to pay dividends or repurchase stock. There are
specific exceptions to these covenants including, in some cases, upon satisfying specified payment conditions based on availability.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

Table of contents

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

RULE 10B5-1 TRADING PLANS

During the three months ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, none of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated any contract, instruction, or written plan for the
purchase or sale of the Company'’s securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as
defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Date of Filing Exhibit Number

10.1* First Amendment dated as of September 21, 2023, to Term Credit - - - -
Agreement dated as of June 23, 2023 among Designer Brands Inc.,
Designer Brands Canada Inc., certain of domestic subsidiaries as
guarantors, the lenders party thereto, and PLC Agent LLC, as
Administrative Agent and Lead Arranger.

31.1* Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification - Principal Executive Officer. - - - -
31.2* Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification - Principal Financial Officer. - - - -
32.1** Section 1350 Certification - Principal Executive Officer. o = S o
32.2** Section 1350 Certification - Principal Financial Officer. - - - -
101* The following materials from the Designer Brands Inc. Quarterly Report on - - - -

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024, formatted
in iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations; (ii) Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income; Income (Loss); (i) Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets; (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity; (v) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows; and (vi) Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File, formatted in iXBRL and contained in - - - -
Exhibit 101.

*  Filed herewith

**  Furnished herewith

Table of contents

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

DESIGNER BRANDS INC.

Date: December 5, 2023 June 4, 2024 By: Isl Jared A. Poff

Jared A. Poff
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and duly authorized officer)

34
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atisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3, including for the avoidance of doubt the Reguired DDTL Borrowing (as defined in Section 4): the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended to (i) delete the stricken tex
indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: stricken text), (i) add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: double-underlined text) and (iii) move from its locatior
he stricken text in indi in the same manner as the following example: moved from text) into its new location the double-underlined text in green (indicated textually in the same manner as 11585138v3]
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le: moved to text), as set forth in the pages of the Amended Credit Agreement attached as Annex A hereto. Section 3. Effectiveness. (a) This First Amendment shall become effective once the following conditions]
precedent have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Administrative Agent (such date referred to herein as (the “First Amendment Effective Date”): (i) the Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment, duly executed and|
delivered by the Loan Parties and the Lenders; and (ii) the Borrowers shall have borrowed Delay Draw Term Loans, in accordance with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, the Existing Credit Agreement, in an aggregate principall
lamount of $25,000,000 on or before October 31, 2023 (the “Required DDTL Borrowing™). (b) Interim Extension. Upon satisfaction of the condition precedent in Section 3(a)(i) above, the Administrative Agent and Lenders hereby agree thaf]
clause (a) of the definition of “Delay Draw Commitment Period” shall be deleted and replaced in its entirety with “(a) October 31, 2023". Section 4. Representations, Warranties and Covenants. The Loan Parties hereby represent and|
\warrant that on the date hereof and on the First Amendment Effective Date: (a) no Default or Event of Default Exists; (b) all necessary corporate or limited liability action has been taken by each of the Loan Parties to enter into and
perform its obligations under this Amendment and the documents delivered in connection herewith; and (c) the representations and warranties contained in Article Ill of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are]

rue and correct in all material respects (except that any representation or warranty which by its terms is made as of a specified date shall be required to be true and correct in all material respects only as of such specified date, and thaf
any representation or warranty which is subject to any materiality qualifier shall be required to be true and correct in all respects). Section 5. Release by the Loan Parties. Each Loan Party for and on behalf of itself and its legal
representatives, successors and assigns, fully, unconditionally, and irrevocably waives, releases, relinquishes and forever discharges the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and each of their parents, subsidiaries, and affiliates, its and theii
respective past, present and future directors, officers, managers, agents, employees, insurers, attorneys, representatives and all of their respective heirs, successors and assigns, (collectively, the “Released Parties”), of and from any and|
all manner of action or causes of action, suits, claims, liabilities, losses, costs, expenses, demands, judgments, damages (including compensatory and punitive damages), levies and executions of whatsoever kind, nature and/ol
lescription arising on or before the date hereof, in each case whether known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, liquidated or unliguidated, joint or several, fixed or contingent, direct or indirect, contractual or tortious, which the Loan|
Parties, or their legal representatives, successors or assigns, ever had or now has or may claim to have agaif of the Released Parties, with respect to any matter whatsoever, including, without limitation, the Loan Documents, !
tion of any Loan Documents, the
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lagreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Amendment by telecopy, pdf or other electronic transmission shall be as effective ag

delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment. Section 7. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS (AND NOT THE LAW OF

either such agreement or any other Loan Document. Except as expressly modified herein, each and every term, condition, obligation, covenant and agreement contained in the Amended Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document isf
hereby ratified and re-affirmed in all respects and shall continue in full force and effect. The Loan Parties hereby acknowledge, confirm and agree that the Collateral Documents and any and all Liens previously granted to the
Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Credit Parties, shall continue to secure all applicable Obligations of the Loan Parties at any time and from time to time outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Loar
[Documents, as such Obligations have been amended pursuant to this Amendment. From and after the date hereof, all references to the Amended Credit Agreement in any Loan Document shall, unless expressly provided otherwise, refe
to the Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment. This Amendment is a Loan Document executed pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement and shall be construed, administered and applied in accordance with the terms and

rovisions thereof. [SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW.
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Signature Page to First Amendment to Term Credit Agreement] IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above]
ritten. U.S. BORROWER: DESIGNER BRANDS INC. By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Tax and Treasurer CANADIAN BORROWER: DESIGNER BRANDS CANADA INC. By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice]

President, Treasurer DocuSign Envelope ID: F9751B4F-DE60-4E99-8E3C-C187897FF52C]
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Signature Page to First Amendment to Term Credit Agreement] OTHER LOAN PARTIES: DSW SHOE WAREHOUSE, INC. By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer BRAND CARD SERVICES LLC By: Namej}

Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer DSW INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer ETAILDIRECT LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President,|

Treasurer DocuSign Envelope ID: F9751B4F-DE60-4E99-8E3C-C187897FF52C]
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[BUSINESS DIVISION LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice Presmlent Treasurer 810 AC LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer RETAIL VENTURES SERVICES, INC. B Name: Marla Walterd

Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer DocuSign Envelope ID: F9751B4F-DE60-4E99-8E3C-C187897FF52C]
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Signature Page to First Amendment to Term Credit Agreement] CAMUTO LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer DESIGNER BRAND LICENSING LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President|

[Treasurer VCJS LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer VCS GROUP LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer VINCENT CAMUTO LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Seniol

Vice President, Treasurer DocuSign Envelope ID: F9751B4F-DE60-4E99-8E3C-C187897FF52C]
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Signature Page to First Amendment to Term Credit Agreement] CCl OPERATIONS LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer VC FOOTWEAR LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President,|
reasurer VC LINE BUILDING SERVICES LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer HOT ON TIME LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer SOLE SOCIETY GROUP, INC. By}

Name: Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer DocuSign Envelope ID: F9751B4F-DE60-4E99-8E3C-C187897FF52C]
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F9751B4F-DE60-4E99-8E3C-C187897FF52C]
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Slna!ure Page to First Amendment to Term Credit Agreement] TOPO ATHLETIC LLC By: Name Marla Walters Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer DESIGNER BRANDS PARTNERS LLC By: Name: Marla Walters Tltle Senior Vice]
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JANNEX A Amended Credit Agreement [See attached.
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[TABLE OF CONTENTS Page ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS 1 SECTION 1.01 Defined Terms 1 SECTION 1.02 Classification of Loans and Borrowings 50 SECTION 1.03 Terms Generally 50 SECTION 1.04 Accounting Terms; GAAP 51]
SECTION 1.05 Rates 51 SECTION 1.06 Status of Obligations 52 SECTION 1.07 Exchane Rates 52 SECTION 1.08 Divisions 52 ARTICLE Il. THE CREDITS 53 SECTION 2.01 Commitments 53 SECTION 2.02 Loans and Borrowins 53]

ISECTION 3.12 ERISA Compliance; Canadian Pension Plans 74 SECTION 3.13 Environmental Matters 76 1158474
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'ABLE OF CONTENTS (continued) SECTION 3.14 Labor Matters 76 SECTION 3.15 Solvency 76 SECTION 3.16 Anti-Terrorism Laws, Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions 76 SECTION 3.17 EEA Financial Institutions 77 SECTION 3.18]
Security Interest in Collateral 77 SECTION 3.19 Credit Card Agreements 77 SECTION 3.20 Plan Assets; Prohibited Transactions 77 SECTION 3.21 Beneficial Ownership Certificate 78 ARTICLE IV. CONDITIONS 78 SECTION 4.01]
Closing Date 78 ARTICLE V. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 81 SECTION 5.01 Financial Statements; Borrowin: Base and Other Information 81 SECTION 5.02 Notlces of Material Events and Delivery of Other Re) orts 84 SECTION 5.03

SECTION 8.03 Duties and Obligations 116 SECTION 8.04 Reliance 116 ii 11584747]
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SECTION 10.06 Reinstatement; Sta of Acceleration 141 SECTION 10.07 Information 142 SECTION 10.08 [Reserved.] 142 SECTION 10.09 Reserved 142 SECTION 10.10 Maximum Llablllt 142 iii 11584747]
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[TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued) SECTION 10.11 Contribution 142 SECTION 10.12 Liabili Cumulalive 143 SECTION 10.13 Reserved 143 SECTION 10.14 Common Enter rise 143 ARTICLE XI. CANADIAN GUARANTY 143]

[Common Entel rise 147 ARTICLE XII. 147 SECTION 12.01 Appointment; Nature of Relationship 147 SECTION 12.02 Powers 147 SECTION 12.03 EmIO ment of Agents 147 SECTION 12 04 Notices 147 SECTION 12.05 Successo
Borrower Representative 148 SECTION 12.06 Execution of Loan Documents; Borrowing Base Certificate 148 SECTION 12.07 Reporting 148 iv 11584747]
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ABLE OF CONTENTS (continued) SCHEDULES: Schedule 1.01(a) — Commitment Schedule Schedule 1.01(c) — Existing Owned Real Pro) ert Schedule 1.01(d) — Immaterial SL1b5|d|ar|es Schedule 3.02 — Capitalization; Sub5|d|ar|es

[Covenants Schedule 6. 01 Existing Indebtedness Schedule 6.02 — Existing Investments Schedule 6 03 — Existing Contractual Encumbrances and Restrictions Schedule 6 05 — Existing Affiliate Transactions Schedule 6.07 — Existing

Liens EXHIBITS: Exhibit A — Form of Assignment and Assumption Exhibit B — Form of Note Exhibit C — Form of Borrowing Request Exhibit D — Form of Compliance Certificate Exhibit E — Reserved Exhibit F — Form of Joinder Agreemen
Exhibit G-1 — Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Lenders that are not Partnerships for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes) Exhibit G-2 — Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Participants that are not Partnerships for U.S|
[Federal Income Tax Purposes) Exhibit G-3 — Form of . Tax Certificate (For Foreign Participants that are Partnerships for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes) Exhibit G-4 — Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Lenders that are}

Partnerships for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes) v 11584747
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Credit Card Account. “Acquired Indebtedness” means, with respect to any s eclfled Person.

Restricted Subsidiary of such specified Person, and (2) Indebtedness secured by a Lien 1158474
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with respect to any Loan, an interest rate per annum equal to Adjusted Term SOFR; provided, however, that in the event that Adjusted Term SOFR is unavailable, subject to the last sentence of the definition of “Term SOFR”, the]
IApplicable Reference Rate shall mean a per annum interest rate equal to the Alternate Base Rate. The Applicable Reference Rate will be determined and adjusted monthly (as of the beginning of each month) as to all Loans thei
. “Approved Fund” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04. “Article Il JV" means Article Il JV, LLC, a Delaware limited liabili
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Statement" has the meaning assigned to such term in Sectlon 2,18 g). 4 1158474
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individuals subject to economic sanctions and similar measures. “Canadian Guaranteed Obligation” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.
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‘Canadian Obligated Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.02. “Canadian Obligations” means all unpaid principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on the Canadian Term Loans to the Canadian Borrower, all accrued and unpaid

obligations backed by the full fanh and credit of the United States of America or Canada (or any provincial governments 7 11584747|
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ions are rated A-1, A or the equivalent or better by S&P on the date of acquisition; (d) money market or mutual funds whose investments are]
— : B— - - S— -

eight BEE
Credit Card|

of not more than one hundre:
rovided, that, for the avoidance

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 771277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

be a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued, promulgated or implemented. “Charges” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9. 18 “CIP Regulations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.11]
. “Class”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are U.S. Term Loans or Canadian Term Loans. 8 11584747
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Real Property Deliverables with respect to all Material Real Property; 9 1158474
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ative Agent shall have received the IPCo JV Consent and Ple
Loan Party shall have obtained all material consents and approvals required in connection with the execution and delivery of all Collateral Documents to which it is a party and the performance of its obligations thereunder.
the foregoing, any Subsidiary formed or acquired after the Closing Date and required to become a Loan Party shall not be reguired to comply with the foregoing requirements prior to the time specified in Section 5.14. The foregoing

interests in, or the delivery of legal opinions or other deliverables with respect to, particular assets or the

th assets acquired, or Subsidiaries formed or acquired, after the Closing Date) where it determines that such action cannot be accom
required to be accomplishe: or the Collateral Documents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no action required to be t.

ledges, and collateral assignments, whether theretofore, now or hereafter executed by any Borrower or any other Loan Party and delivered
ns, with respect to each Lender, the commitment, if any, of such Lender to make Term Loans hereunder (including with respect to U.S. Closing Date Term Loan Commitments, U.S. Delay}
anadian Closing Date Term Loan Commitments, and Canadian Delay Draw Commitments), as such commitment may be reduced pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 9.04. The initial
lamount of each Lender’'s Commitment is set forth on the Commitment Schedule, or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Lender shall have assumed its Commitment, as applicable. The initial aggregate amount of all
of the Lenders’ Commitments is $135, 0. “Commitment Schedule” means the Schedule attached hereto as Schedule 1.01(a). “Communications” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.01(d). 10 1158474
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lconforming changes to the definitions of “Alternate Base Rate”, “SOFR”, “Term SOFR”, and “Adjusted Term SOFR”", timing and frequency of determining rates and makin

i gent etermlnest at adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or that no market practice for the administration of such rate exist:
in such other manner of admlmstranon as the Admlnlstlatlve Agent determmes is reasonably necessary in connection Wlth the administration Of this Ag reement and an Oﬂ’lel' Loan Document). “Connection Income Taxes” means Othe

clida21 |

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 81/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

- onucuL

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 82/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

to those in effect on the Closini i i issuers or providers that are reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent or (2) PayPal, Inc., Stripe, Square, Venmo, Apple Pay, AfterPay or any other similar “Buy-|
INow, Pay Later’ product, or any other e-commerce service providers or electronic payment services providers. 12 1158474
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Iservices providers. “Credit Party”

etermination that a condition prec g (specifically identified and including t e particular Default, if any) has not been satisfied; (b) has notified any Borrower or any Credit Party in writing, or has made a public statement, tg
the effect that it does not intend or exect 0 coml wnh any of its fundini 0b||at|0ns under thls Agreement umess such writing or public statement indicates that such position is based on such Lender 's good faith determmatlon thal

ects
ate shall be reguired to be true and correct in all material respects only as of such specified date, and that any 13 11584747|
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b) any other Person that is a Competitor of the Compat otS iaries, Person Sii the Cor written notice to the Administrative At n five
Business Days prior to such date; provided that “Dlsuahfled Instltutlons" sha\l exclude an! Person that the Coman has deswt nated as no Ion er bem a "DISLIa|Ierd Institution” by written notice dellveled to the Administrative A ent

ppening of any event, (a) matures (excluding any maturi he issuer thereof redeemable, ing fund obligation or otherwise (othe!
han as a result of a change of control or asset sale), or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part (other than as a result of a change of control or asset sale), in each case at any time on or prior to the date that i}
91 days after the Maturity Date, or (b) is convertible into or exchangeable (unless at the sole option of the issuer thereof) for (i) Indebtedness or (i) any Equity Interests referred to in (a) above, in each case at any time prior to the date thatj
is 91 days after the Maturity Date; provided, however, that only the portion of such Equity Interests which so matures or is mandatorily redeemable, is so 14 11584747
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|Agreement, or (b) a Default. “DQ List” has the meaning specified in Section 9.04(e). “Ebuys” means Ebuys, Inc., a California corporation. “EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA|

ith the intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or record. ‘Electronlc S stem" means an electronlc S\ stem including ema|l 5] ndtrak e-| fax Intralinks®.
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contribullon required to be made with respect to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (i) the conditions for imposition of a lien under Section 303(k) of ERISA shall have been met with respect to any Plan. “Erroneous Payment” shall have the]

Article IJV BC/VC. (iii) IPCo JV. s Holdin LLC n Ohio limited liabilit any. an other CEC Holdco, (v iary that is r a , and (vi) any]
other Domestic Subsidiary of any Loan Par formed or othermse acquired after the Clusm Date if the execution of a Jomder Ac reement and the Guaramee of the U. S Obllat\ons would cause matenal advense tax consequences to anyj

consultation with the Administrative Agent. 17 11584747]
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udes ns each (a) Immaterial idiary, (b) Unrestrici c) Excluded Domestic other than, with respect to the Canadian Obligations, an! oldco that owns equi of one or more}
Canadian Subsidiaries), (d) Foreign Subsidiary (other than Canadian Subsidiaries th res) ect to the Canadian Obligations), (e) Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, (f) Special Purpose Receivables Subsidiary, (g) Subsidian

or any of its Re: inary i and no of proceeds described in Section or (b)(ii) hereof), including, without limitation, (a) fore s, fe
provincial, territorial or local tax refunds, (b) pension plan reversions, (c) judgments, proceeds of settlements or other consmeraﬂon of any kind in connectlon with any cause of action (other than Io the 18 1158474
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p ns receivables purchase or factoring agreements entered into by one or more Camuto Entities and The

IServices, Inc. or other factor, as such agreements may be amended, modified, supplemented, restated or replaced from time to time; provided that, amendments, modifications, restatements or replacements of the Factoring Agreements|

rate on such transactions on the immediatel
greement. “Fee Letter” means that certain fee letter, dated as of the Closing D:
he parties thereto. “FILO Reserve” shall have the meanini

balance sheet of such Person. 19 1158474
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reafter in effect or any successor statute thereto, and (i
d liabilities in f th ount permitted unds El ble Law, or f th nt that would b rmitted under an licablel

e Law, or in excess of the amount that would be permitted under any applical
uirement of Law, on or before the date such contributions are due, except where the f:

prohibited under any applicable Reqguirements of Law and that would reasonabl
Lender” means (a) if a Borrower is a U.S. Person, a Lender, with respect to such Borrower, that is not a U.S. Person, and (b) if a Borrower is not a U.S. Person, a Lender, with respect to such Borr
he laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which such Borrower is resident for tax purpose: " means any plan established under the law of a

11584747
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accepted in the U.S., consistently applied. “Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America, Canada, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof ]

any security for the 1tt [ lease property, securities or services for the g the o) ness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working
capital, equi caltal or an Dtherflnanmal statemem condlt\on or || uidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pa such Indebtedness or uther obligation or d as an account party in resect of any letter of credit orf

otal Assets at such date and (y) 2.5% of the 21 1158474
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for, the obligations under the ABL Credit Agreement (unless such Guaranty or pledge, as applicable, is released prior to or substantially concurrently with such designation). Each Immaterial Subsidiary as of the Closing Date]

hall be set forth in Schedule 1.01(d), and the Borrower Representative shall update such Schedule from time to time after the Closing Date as necessary to reflect all Immaterial Subsidiaries at such time (the selection of Subsidiaries toj

11584747
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2) to the extent not otherwise included, any obligation of such Person to be liable for, or to pay, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, the obligations referred to in clause (1) of another Person (other than by endorsement of negotiabl

instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business); and (3) to the extent not otherwise included, Indebtedness of another Person secured by a Lien on any asset owned by such Person (whether or not such Indebtedness i

lamount of such Indebtedness of such other Person; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness shall be deemed not to include (1) Contingent Obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business and not in|
respect of borrowed money; (2) deferred or prepaid revenues; (3) purchase price holdbacks in respect of a portion of the satisfy warranty or other unperformed obligations of the respective seller; (4) trade an

other ordinary course payables and accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of business; (5) in the case of the Company and the Subsidiaries, (x) all intercompany Indebtedness solely among the Company and the Restricted|

nary course of business and, in the case of an

_ interest rate hedge agreement or other sim
the Subsidiaries Incurred without violation o

emed an Incurrence of Indebtedness under this Agreement. “Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to an

obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in subsection (a), Other Taxes. “Indemnitee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.03(b).
Advisor” means an accounting, appraisal or investment banking firm or consultant, in each case of nationally recognized standing, that is, in the good faith determination of the Company, qualified to perform the task for which it has been|
lengaged. “Ineligible Institution” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(b). 23 11584747
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uter so , object co lata, databases and other sical manifestations, embodiments or incor; j0ing; all other Intellectual property; and all common law
flhlS 1'1[0[1( hout the world in and IO all of the foregoing. ‘Intercoman Subordmat\on Ag reement" means the Intercompany Subordination Agreement, dated as of the Closin Date among the Com any, ItS Subsidiaries, the]

guarantees), advances or capital contributions, repayments of nlercom pany Indebtedness pursuant [0 clauses (a) an of the defin tedr purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of indebtedness, Equity]
Interests or other securities issued by any other Person and investments that are required b GAAP to be cla55|f|ed on the balance sheet of such Person in the same manner as the Othel investments included in this definition to the extent]

hat upon a redesignation of such Subsidiary as a Restricted 24 1158474

slide44

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 98/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

at the time of such transfer. “IPCo JV"

riority to the Obligations (other than (x) intercompany Indebtedness owing to the Company or to a Subsidiary if an Investment in such Subsidiary by the obligor of such Indebtedness in such amount would be permitted at
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such time; provided that any repayment of such Indebtedness will be deemed an Investment in such Subsidiary in such amount and (y) ABL Obligations) and (c) Indebtedness arising from agreements of a Loan Pa

, in each case, Incurred or assumed in connection with any Investments or any acquisition or disposition of any business, assets or 3
. “Lenders” means the Persons listed on the Commitment Schedule and any other Person that shall have become a Lender hereunder pursuant to
Section 2.09 or an Assignment and Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a Lender hereunder pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption. 25 11584747
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“‘Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, security interest or similar encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected unde

such Real Estate has occurred (which shall have, in the Permitted Discretion of the Administrative Agent, a material and adverse impact on the use, operation or value of thereof) other than as a result of (i) ordinary wear and tear and (ii

lepreciation in accordance with GAAP. 26 1158474

slide46

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 101/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

“Material Intellectual Property” means trademarks, trademark applications, service marks, trade dress, trade names, business names, designs, logos, slogans (and all translations, adaptations, derivations and combinations of the]
fore oin indicia and other source and/or business identifiers, and all re istra!ions or applications for reislrations which have here!ofore been or may hereafter be issued thereon throughout the world; copyrights and copyright

nd representations and warranties to purchaser in respect of such Disposition undertaken by the Company or an of its Restricted Subsidiaries in connection with such Disposition; provided that upon release of any such reserve, the

lamount released shall be considered Net Proceeds; il 11584747
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after giving effect to such lransactlon or payment, one of the following tests shall be satisfied: 28 1158474
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Payment Office. ‘PBGC" means the Pension Beneflt [SNETENT Cororauon referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor enm
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g cash or Cash Equivalents an onnection with sposition of assets permitte Section 6.04; (5) any Investm Date or an Investment consisting of an
renewal of an Investmem emstmc on the Closmc Date rowded that the amount of any such Investment may be increased (x) as required by the terms of such Investment as in ex\stence on the Closlnc Date to the extent set forth|

outstanding amount (valued at the time of the making thereof, and without giving effect to any write-downs or 31 11584747
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he date of the making of such Investment and such Person becomes a Loan Party after such date, such Investment shall thereafter be deemed to have been made pursuant to clause (1) above and shall cease to have been made}
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[services or el nt or purchases of contract rights or licenses or leases of in-bound i i i i imitation, Investments made in connection with a Similar Business), in each case, in the ordinary course of

business; (16) [Reserved]; (17) [Reserved]; 32 11584747
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such Investment and such Person becomes a Loan Par after such date, such Investment shall thereafter be deemed to have been made ursuam to clause (1) above and shall cease to have been made pursuant to thls clause (21) for]
h P by L P; I i h | I ran. li b b i

compliance with the Payment Conditions); provided, however, that if any Investment pursuant to this clause (22) is made in 33 1158474
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any Person that is not a Loan Party at the date of the making of such Investment and such Person becomes a Loan Party after such date such Investment shall thereafter be deemed o have been made pursuant to clause (1) above and|

rovided in accordance with GAAP; 34 11584747]
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4) deposits or escrows to secure performance and surety bonds or bid bonds or with respect to other regulatory requirements or letters of credit, bankers’ acceptances or similar obligations (other than Indebtedness for borrowed mone
it being understood that Indebtedness ermmed ursuant to Sectlon 6.01(cc) and other obligations in respect of cash manaemem services shal\ not constltule Indebtedness for purposes of thls clause (4 |ssued ursuant to the request

ladditional assets become sub’ect to such Lien (except pursuant to the terms of the agreements governing such Llen as in effect on the date of this Agreement); 35 11584747
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—————————————————————————————————————————————
8) Liens on assets, property or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Liens are not created or Incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other Person|
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ubleases, licenses and sublicenses with respect t Material Real Property entered into after the Closing Date unless with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, in all such cases, not interfering in any material respecf
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repurchase agreements constituting Cash Equivalents under clause (e) of the definition thereof; (37) Liens in favor of the ABL Agent to secured indebtedness permitted under Section 6.01(b); 38 11584747
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ranted in connection with the financing ol
; (39) Liens in favor of landlords on leasehold improvements financed by allowances or advanced
granted in connection with securities lending transactions or reverse]

roceeds of such accounts receivable and other property upon which Liens are customaril

38) with respect to a Permitted Wholesale A/R Financing, Liens on wholesale accounts receivable,
lsecuritization of accounts receivable (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, on an included in the calculation of the Borrowing Base’
such landlords pursuant to lease arrangements; (40) Liens on proceeds in an aggregate amount not to exceed $6,875,000 at any one time outstandin:
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after such pro-forma financial statements reflecting such transactions are required to be filed by the Company under Reg. S-X. “Proceeds of Crime Act” means the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Actf

Canada), as amended. “Projections” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.06(b). “Protective Advance” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04. “Qualified Cash” means, as of any date of determination, the|
laggregate amount of unrestricted cash and Specified Cash Equivalents of the Loan Parties that is (i) in one or more deposit accounts or in securities accounts, or any combination thereof, each which such deposit account or securitie]
ccount is, subject to Sectlon 5.17, subject to a control agreement in form and subs!ance reasonably satisfactory to Admlnlstranve Agent, and is maintained by a branch office of the bank or securmes mtermedlar located within the United
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f) an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, in the state where such Material Real Property is located with respect to the enforceability of the Mortgage to be recorded and such other matters as the Administrativej

Relevant Entlt becomes a Sanctioned Person, or is charged by indictment, criminal complaint or similar charln instrument, arraigned, or custodially detained in connection with an An‘u Terrorism Law or any predicate crime to any Anti-|
[Terrorism Law, or has knowledge of facts or circumstances to the effect that it is reasonably likely that any aspect of its operations is in actual or probable violation of any Anti-Terrorism Law. “Required Lenders” means, at any time,
Lenders (other than Defaulting Lenders) having Term Exposures and unused Commitments representing more than 50% of the sum of the Aggregate Term Exposure and unused Commitments at such time; provided if there are more thar

2) unaffiliated 42 11584747
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time, at least there two (2) unaffiliated Lenders (other than Defaulting

Lenders) having Term Exposures and unused Commitments representing more than 50% of the sum of the Aggregate Term Exposure and unused|
[Commitments at such time. “Requirement of Law” means, with respect to any Person, (a) the charter, articles or certificate of organization or incorporation and bylaws or other organizational or

overning documents of such Person and (b,
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hereunder. The Borrower Representative may amend such list of individuals from time to time by giving written notice of such amendment to the Administrative Agent. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible}

Restricted Subsidiary or between Restricted Subsidiaries. “Sanctioned Country” ime, or territory which is itself the subject or target of any Sanctions (as of the Closing Date, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Crimea

Region, the Donetsk and Luhansk territories of Ukraine, and Syria). 43 11584747
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lamount of contingent liabilities at any time, it is intended that such liabilities will be computed at the amount which, 44 11584747
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in light of all the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability. “Special Purpose Receivables Subsidian
Subsidiary of the Company established in connection with a Permitted Wholesale A/R Financing for the acquisition of wholesale Accounts of a Loan Party or a Restricted Subsidiary to the extent the same are not included in the Borrowing
Base hereunder, proceeds of such accounts receivable and other assets which are customarily transferred in connection with the financing or securitization of accounts receivable, which engages in no material activities other than in
connection with the financing of accounts receivable of a Loan Party and/or Restricted Subsidiaries, and which is organized in a manner intended to reduce the likelihood that it would be substantively consolidated with the Company o
an of the SL1b5|d|ar|es other than Special Purose Recelvables Subsidiaries) in the event the Company or any such Subsldlar becomes subject to a proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code (or other Insolvenc Laws) and (i) an

lestablished pursuant to the last sentence of the definition of Term SOFR; provided, that, the Successor Rate shall at no time be less than the Floor. 45 11584747
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greement as in effect on the date hereof or as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the ABL Intercreditor Agreement. “U.S. Closing Date Commitment” means, with|
respect to each Lender, the commitment, if any, of such Lender to make the Closing Date Term Loans in U.S. Dollars to the U.S. Borrower on the Closing Date in accordance with Section 2.01(a). 48 1158474
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g
Person, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time. 49 11584747

slide69

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 130/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 131/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

thereunder having the force of law or with which affected Persons customarily comply) and all judgments, orders and decrees of all Governmental Authorities. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the]

ord “shall”. Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to
time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, 50 11584747
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restatements, supplements or modifications set forth herein or in the other Loan Documents), (b) any definition of or reference to any statute, rule or regulation shall be construed as referring thereto as from time to time amended,|

“hereof” and “hereunder”, and words off

the Borrowing Base that is adverse to the Lenders (or “Lenders” as defined in the ABL Credit Agreement) in any material respect, and the Borrower Representative notifies the Admlmstratlve Agent that the Borrowers request an|
lamendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of such change (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower Representative that the Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for 51 11584747
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[Status of Obligations. In the event that any Borrower or any other Loan Party shall at any time issue or have outstanding any Subordinated Indebtedness, such Borrower shall take or cause such other Loan Party to take all such actions as]

lagreement or instrument under which such Subordinated Indebtedness is outstanding and are further given all such other designations as shall be required under the terms of any such Subordinated Indebtedness in order that the Lender:

ave and exercise any 52 11584747
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itmen l.ad4 request does not, (i) with respect to amounts to b advanced as a U.S. Term Loan to th s not exceed the U.S. Delay Di
0 such amounts to be advanced as a Canadlan Term Loan to the Canadian Borrower does not to exceed the Canadlan Delay Draw Commitment. 53 1158474
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discretion). Except as provided in Section 2.08, the Borrowers may request the Lenders make Delay Draw Term Loans on no more than two (2) occasions. Each such Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and signed by the Borrower

or telephonic notice thereof to the Borrower Representative and, if si ected, will be of no fo
laccordance with this Section, the Administrative Agent shaII advise each Lender 54 11584747
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of the details thereof of the amount of such Lender’s Loan to be made as part of the requested Borrowing. Each Borrowing Request shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrowers on the date thereof ag

0 1he matters secmed in 1h|s Section and in Section 2.02(b) and on each da) the Dela Draw Condltlons are satisfied. SECTION 2.04 Protective Advances. (a] Sub'ect to the limitations set forth below, after the Closing Date, the]

ire transferred to such account as may be designated in the Borrowing Request. 55 1158474
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Date, to the extent reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent. (c) Within a reasonable time after the effective date of any increase or addition, the

opinions and documents consistent with those delivered on the Closin
Administrative Agent shall, and is hereby authorized and directed to, revise the Commitment Schedule to reflect such increase or addition and shall distribute such revised Commitment Schedule to each of the Lenders and the Borrowe
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Representative, whereupon such revised Commitment Schedule shall replace the old Commitment Schedule and become part of this Agreement. SECTION 2.09 Termination of Commitments; Credit Agreement. (a) The aggregate amount
of the Closing Date U.S. Commitments and the Closing Date Canadian Commitments of the Lenders shall terminate upon funding Date Term Loans. Upon the funding of any Delay Draw Term Loan by a Lender, the Delay]

Draw Commitment of such Lender shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount of the Delay Draw Term Loan funded by such Lender; provided, however, that all Delay Draw Commitments shall terminate on the last day of Delay]
Draw Commitment Period. For the avoidance of doubt, any U.S. Term Loan that is made shall automatically and permanently reduce the A reate Commitment and the U.S. Commitment of each Lender and each Canadian Term Loan|

p
hich the U.S. Term Loans are declared due and payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 57 11584747
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c) The Canadian Borrower shall repay the principal amount of the Canadian Term Loans in consecutive quarterly installments, each in an amount equal to $62,500.00 plus 1.25% of the initial principal amount of all Canadian Delay Dra
Term Loans made after the Closing Date, beginning on the date that is sixth months after the Closing Date, and thereafter, on the last Business Day of each fiscal quarter; provided, however, that the last such installment shall be in thej
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aid in full; and second, against the remaining installments of principal due on the Canadian Term Loans on a pro rata basis in inverse order of maturity until paid in full. Notwithstanding 60 11584747
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, (i) after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, if the Administrative Agent has elected, or has been directed by the Required Lenders, to apply payments in respect of an
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Rate. SECTION 2.15 Increased Costs, Losses. 62 11584747
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Agent and subject to the last sentence of the definition of “Term SOFR”, the interest rate shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, be determined by the Administrative Agent by reference to the Alternate Base Rate (instead of Adjuste:
[Term SOFR) until the Administrative Agent provides notice to the Borrower Representative that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist. ility to Determine Rates. Subject to Section 2.14, if (i) the
Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that Term SOFR cannot be determined pursuant to the definition thereof or (i) the Administrative Agent is advised by the

Required Lenders that Term SOFR or Adjusted Term SOFR will not adeguately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans, the Administrative Agent will prompt! i
and each Lender. Thereafter, subject to the last sentence of the definition of “Term SOFR”, interest shall be determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate (as opposed to Adjusted Term SOFR), until the Administrative Agent (upo

he instruction of the Required Lenders) revokes such notice. In connection with the implementation of a Successor Rate, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Successor Rate Conforming Changes from time to time in|

shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified co

payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. (d) Indemnification by the Loan Parties. Subject in all cases to Section 9.21, thi ies shall jointly and severally indemni
efor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payab ction r pai
rom a payment to such Recipient and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified

certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the 64 1158474

payable or paid by such Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted
or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A
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any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to such Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent
i i i i i i i ith r s made under any Loan Document shall deliver to the Borrower Representative and|

nder this paragraph (e). (f) Status of Lenders. (i) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payment:
he Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower Representative or the Administrative Agent and at the time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation}

whichever of the following is applicable: 65 11584747]
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contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower Representative and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonabl
requested by the Borrower Representative or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably}

ement. Each Lender agrees that if an: ation it previo pire ecomes obsolete or inaccurate espect, it sl t certification of nptly notify the Borrower Representativs
he Administrative Aent in Wrmn of its Ie al |nab||| 0 do so. Trealment of Cena\n Refunds If any par determmes in its sole dlSCletan exert:lsed in cood falth that it has recelved a refund of any Taxes as to whmh n has been

e, on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without s or counterclaim. An ed aftev such tlme 0
IAgent, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest 67 11584747]
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roceeds of Collateral received by the Administrative Agent (i) not constituting either (A) a specific p

pplied in accordance with Section 2.11(c)) or (ii) after an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Admini:

to pay any fees, indemnities, or expense reimbursements including amounts then due to the Administrative Agent from the applicable Borrower until paid in full, second, to pay any fees (including any Prepayment Premium) or expense}

rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price 68 11584747]
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any assignee or parti han to the applicable Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which the
agrees, with respect to itself and the Term Loans made to it, to the extent it may effectively d licable law, that any Lender acquiring a

arrangements may, subject to Section 9.08, exercise against such Borrower rights of set-off and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of such Borrower in the amount of such}

rewith and

rally agrees to repay to the Administrative Ag

rom and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbani

ith billing statements or invoices with respect to any of the Secured Obligations (the “Billing Statements” 0 duty or obligation to
' convenience. The Billing Statements r ntain estimates of the amounts owed during the rel it i i interest, fees or
ement, the Borrowers eptance by thel

ernmental Authority for 69 11584747]

] slide89

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 156/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

he account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.17, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lendi

office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder tof

lanother of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the reasonable judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.15 or 2.17, as the case may be, in the future}

fand (i) would not subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be materially disadvantageous to such Lender.
Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or an

b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.15, or if any Borrowel
Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.17, and, in each case, such Lender has declined or is unable to designate a
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different lending office in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Section, or if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the Borrowers may, at their sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent |

require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.04), all its interests, rights (other than its existing rights to payments pursuant to Section 2.15 or 2.17)

ers shall have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not unreasonabl

have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and]
laccrued interest and fees) or the applicable Borrower (in the case of all other amounts) and (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Section 2.15 or payments required to be made pursuant to|

; (b) such Defaulting Lender shall not have the right to vote on any issue on which voting is required (other than to the extent expressly provided in Section 9.02(b)) and the Commitment and Term Exposure of such Defaultin
der shall not be included in determining whether the Required Lenders have taken or may take any action hereunder (including any consent to any amendment, waiver or other modification pursuant to Section 9.02) or under any ot
Loan Document; provided, that, except as otherwise provided in Section 9.02, this clause (b) shall not apply to the vote of a Defaulting Lender in the case of an amendment, waiver or other modification requiring the consent of such|

Lender or each Lender directly affected thereby; (c) [reserved]; (d) [reserved]; and 70 11584747]
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s any Eq EESS uity Inter an [¢] rants hts outstanding to Equity Interests or uity Interests. The Compal nd
leach Resmcted Subsu:hal of the Company has Dod and mavketable title to all of the Subswdlar Equity Interests and Joint Ventule Equit Imerests it purports to own, free and clear in each case of any Lien (other than Permmed Llens

he other Loan Documents other than those which have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect and except for filings necessary to perfect Liens created pursuant to the Loan Docum
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stigatior r, to the Loan Party, ainst such Loan Party or any Restrictel ubsidiary of such Loan r or In
Loan Documem or The Transacllons or (i) individually or in the aggregate would leasonabl be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Loar

ECTION 3.05 Litigation. There are no actions, suits, proceedings or inv:
before any arbitrator or any Governmental Authority which (i) involve an

correct and complete in all material respects and fairly represe respects the consolidated financi ompan! iaries as of the respe
periods then ended and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently ap ||ed subject (in the case of the interim statements) to normal year-end audit adjustments. (b Fmanmal Pro ections. The Loan Parties have delivered|
any and its Subsidiaries on a quarterly basis for the first fiscal year following the Closing Date and on an annual basis for the fiscal year thereafter, derived from various assumptions of thej

uch projected financial statements) of the Com|
repared in good faith based on assumptions believed by the Company to be reasonable at the time such Projections were prepared and information believed b

Loan Parties” management (the “Projections”). The Projections have been
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he Company to have been accurate based upon the information available to the Company at the time such Projections were furnished to the Lenders, and the Company is not be aware of any facts or information that would lead it toj
[believe that such Projections are incorrect or misleading in any material respect; it being understood that (a) the Projections represent a reasonable range of possible results in light of the history of the business, present and foreseeable}

conditions and the intentions of the Loan Parties’ management, it being understood that such Pro'eclions i) are as to future events and not to be viewed as facts, ii are subject to significant uncenainties and comin encies many of whichj

tatements; No Material Adverse Effect. As of the respective dates of the Statements, no Loan Party nor any Subsidiary thereof has any liabilities, contingent or otherwise, or forward or |0ﬂ( -term commltmems that are not dlSC|0$ed in the]

[Effect. Since January 28, 2023, no Material Adverse Effect has occurred. (d) Beneficial Ownership. As of the date hereof, the information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification is true and correct in all material respects. 7:

11584747
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ISECTION 3.07 Margin Stock. None of the Loan Parties or any Subsidiaries of any Loan Party engages or intends to engage principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose, immediately,|

, of in stock (within the meaning of Regulation U, T or X as promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System). No part of the proceeds of any Loan has been or will

[Tax returns required to have been filed with respect to each Loan Party and each Restricted Subsidiary of each Loan Party have been filed, and payment or adequate provision has been made for the payment of all Taxes, fees,

overnmental charges which have or may becol
Isuch Taxes, fees, assessments and other charges are being contested in

, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforceability of creditors’ rights generall
ists, and (iii) each of the Loan Parties and each of its Restricted Subsidiaries has good and indefeasible title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all of its material real and personal property, free of a
Permitted Liens except, in the case of (i) or (ii), to the extent that the failure of the foregoing to be true would result in a Material Adverse Effect. (b) Each Loan Party and each Restricted Subsidiary of each Loan Party owns or possesses|
jall the material patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, licenses, registrations, 74 1158474
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utal cial ent to insure the assets an s of each Restricted Subsidian actice in such Loal
Pames and Restrlcted Subsn:ﬂanes SECTION 3.12 ERISA Compliance; Canadian Pensmn Plans. (i Each Plan is in compliance in a\l respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and uther federal or state Iaw. except

eriod or of the Code has been made with res; an. xCel or in the aggreg erial Adverse Effect, (& vent has|
pccurred or is reasonably expected to occur; (b) no Plan has any unfunded pension liability (i.e., excess Df benefit ||ab||\t|es over the cunent value of that Plan’s assets, determlned ursuant to the assum tlons used for funding the Plan fo

9 or 4212(c) of ERISA. 75 11584747|
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urisdiction in which such Foreign Plans art

not be reasonably expected to have a Material verse Effect, and, in any event, no such improvements will result in any additional solvency deficiency or going concern unfui
liability under any Canadian Defined Benefit Plan which would be reasonably expected to have a Matenal Adverse Effect. There are no outstanding disputes concernin the assets of the Canadian Pension Plans Whlch would ‘

accepted actuarial principles) and no Canadian Pension Event has occurred. SECTION 3.13 Environmental Matters. Each Loan Party and each Restricted Subsidiary of each Loan Party is and has been in compliance with applicable
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Environmental Laws except to the extent that any non-compliance would not in the aggregate constitute a Material Adverse Effect. No Loan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary (i) has incurred an Environmental Liabilit
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Restricted Subsidiaries have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, licable federal, state, provincial, territorial, local or foreign law dealing with such matters]

e Sanctions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the representations made in this Section 3.16 sh
rovince or territory thereof and that carries on business in whole or in part in Canada within thej
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IAgreement si ned on behalf of such party 78 11584747|
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erson party to the Fee Letter either (A) a counterpart of the Fee Letter signed on behalf of such party or (B) written evidence satisfactory to the Administrative Agen
(which may mclude facsnmle or other electronic transmission of a signed signature page of this Areemem that such party has signed a counterpart of the Fee Letter. (b) Other Loan Documents. The Administrative Agent (or its counsel)

strative an asis satisfactory Agent, such appraisals and to include fair market value analyses. () USA PATRIOT Act, Etc. The Administrative Agent and the Lenders shal
have recelved U aII documematlon and other mformatlon required by bank regulatory authorities under a Ilcable “know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the USA PATRIOT Act and Proceeds of|

least ten (10) Business Days prior to the date hereof, each Borrower, to the extent qualifyil ity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, shall deliver to each such Lender or Administrative Agent a Beneficiall
Ownership Certification at least three (3) Business Days prior to the date hereof. 79 1158474
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—

h) Opinions. The Administrative Agent shall have received a written opinion of (i) Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, counsel to the Loan Parties, (i) Shipman & Goodwin, local counsel for the Loan Parties formed under the laws of]
he state of Connecticut, (i) Evans & Dixon, L.L.C., local counsel for the Loan Party formed under the laws of the state of Missouri, and (iv) Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP, local counsel for the Loan Party formed under the laws of the
Province of Ontario, Canada, in each case addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and its counsel. (i) Financial Statements and Projections.]

. (0] je
lagreement and securities account control agreement, in form and 80 11584747
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Material Adverse Effect. 81 1158474’
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ng fiscal year, and certifie lCEtI countants of nationally recognized star satisfactory to the A istrative Agent. The certificate or re all be free O
other than any consistenc Ua|IfICaI|0n that may result from a chan e in the method used to prepare the ﬂnanmal statements as to which such accountants concur’ and shall not mcncate the occurrence or existence of any event |

ompany and its 82 11584747
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, monthly financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries, consisting of a consolidated balance sheet and related]

ertified (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence o

applied, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes, (ii as to whether a Default has occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof and any action taken or
aken with respect thereto, (iii) state whether any change in GAAP or in the application thereof has occurred since the date of the audited financial statements referred to in Section 3.06 and, if any such change has occurred, speci
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identification number, if an
rights and whether itel Cl nd f all Ir
i

n her any material in e trademarks are no lol " trademarks, or (G) or closed any store location, and (vi) certify a list of names of all Immaterial Subsidiaries, that each Subsidiary set forth on sucl
list individually qualifies as an Immaterial Subsidiary and that all such Subsidiaries in the aggregate do not exceed the limitation set forth in clause (b) of the definition of the term “Immaterial Subsidiary”. (e) On or before each Borrowing

detailed aging of the Loan Parties’ Credit Card Accounts and other Accounts; 83 1158474
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e Borrowin ase Certificate delivered pursuant to clause (e) above as of such date; and (vi) such other information regarding the Collateral or Loan Parties as the ministrative Agent may from request.
Concurrently with any delivery thereof to the members Df the IPCo JV, and no less frequently than once per fiscal quarter, aII financial statements, other reports and material notices with resect to the IPCo JV h Concmrem with delrve

r electronic or paper co such filings to t accompanying exhibits, attachments, calculations, or othe orting document: . SECTION 5.02 Notices of Material Events Del of Other]
Reorts The Borrower Re resentative will furnish to the Admlmstlatrve Agent prompt (but in any event within any time enod after such Responsible Officer has such knowledce that may be specified below) written notice Df 1he following:|
a) Promptly after any Responsible Officer of any Loan Party has learned of the occurrence of an Event of Default or a Default (and in any event within five (5) Business Days after knowledge thereof), a certificate signed by a Responsible]
Officer setting forth the details of such Event of Default or Default and the action which such Loan Party proposes to take with respect thereto. (b) Promptly after the commencement thereof (and in any event within five (5) Business Days|
after knowledge by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative thereof), notice of all actions, suits, proceedings or investigations before or by any Governmental Authority or any other 84 11584747
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Person against any Loan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary which involve a claim or series of claims that, individually or in the aggregate would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. (c) Promptly in the event that anyj

located. (h) After knowledge by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative of (i) any action or inaction of a plan sponsor or administrator that would reasonabl
of any Unfunded Pension Liability in an amount in excess of $6,875,000; and (iii) receipt of any notice from, or any action of, any Governmental Authority that that would reasonably be expected to result in a Canadian Pension Event]
r A B I £ . (I

hich, for each of clause (i)-(iii), results, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect. A) Within five (5) Business Days after knowledge by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative (1) of the]

JAccount Debtor with respect to Eligible Trade Accounts ceases to meet the requirements of clause (i) of the definition of “Eligible Trade Accounts” (as such term is defined in the ABL Credit Agreement), and (B) on and at the time off
lsubmission to the ABL Agent of the Borrowing Base Certificate after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative has knowledge that any Loan Party has entered into a material amendment, waiver or other modification of any]
icable to any Eligible Trade Account included in the U.S. Borrowing Base. 85 11584747
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(A) Within five (5) Business Days after knowledge by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative (1) of the occurrence of any default or event of default by any Person under any Credit Card Agreement relating to Credi
[Cards Accounts contained in the Borrowing Base, (2) the establishment of, or receipt by any Loan Party of a notice of any proposed establishment of, a reserve or reserve account (or similar concept), whether in the form of an actuall

e value, enforceability or collectability o ortion of the Col t eral, inclu Loan Pal mation possession of, or the return to of, am: t int of goods or claims or disputes asserte an
customer or other obligor. (0) (a) Promptly copies of a\l enwronmemal audns and reviews in respect of MDrta ed Real Property (if any), (b) at Ieast thlrt 30, da s prior thereto notice of an Loan Party’s opening of any new office or|
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any Loan Party with the or any Canadian federal or provincial securities commission, or with any nat ang the Company to its shareholders generally, as the case may be. (q) Promptly]
followm any request therefor, information and documentation reasonably re uested by the Admlmstlatlve Agent or any Lender for purposes of compliance with applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and|

ity compan! ical ualification tn'lantsur iction of inc ranzto an n each jurisdictiol
or the nature of its busmess makes such ||cense or uahflcauon necessary, exce lwnh respect to clause b exce) twhere the fallure to SO maintain an Ilcense or uahﬁcauon would falel!
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ministrative Agent) and including self-insurance to ry (but not with respect to insurance on Collateral included in any portion of the Borrowing Base, Material Real Propert tual Property), al
reasonabl accetable by the Administrative Agent and as may be rel ulred ursuant to the terms of the Co\lateral Documents. At the request of the Administrative Agent, the Loan Partles shall deliver to the Administrative Agent (x

Lenders ma require and otherwise sufficient to comply with all applicable rules and re: ate aws and (b tly upon re ent or any Lender]
renewals of such flood insurance. SECTION 5.06 Maintenance of Proemes. Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, maintain in good repair, workm order and condition ordlnar wear and teal
excepted) in accordance with the general practice of other businesses of similar character and size, all of those properties useful or necessary to its business, and from time to time, such Loan Party will make or cause to be made all

appropriate repairs, renewals or replacements thereof, except where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. SECTION 5.07 Inspection Rights; Appraisals. 88 11584747
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a) Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, permit any of the officers or authorized employees or representatives of the Administrative Agent (including any consultants, accountants, and agents|

retained by the Administrative Agent), as and when determined by the Administrative Agent, upon reasonable prior notice and during normal business hours, to visit and inspect its properties, to conduct at such Loan Party's premises field|

lexaminations of such Loan Party’s assets, liabilities, books and records, including examining and making extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with its officers and independent accountants |

ertaining to such Loan Party’s assets for internal use by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders. (b) On an annual basis, at the Administrative Agent's request, the Borrower Representative will provide the Administrative Agent with|
appraisals or updates thereof of the Loan Parties’ Inventory (provided that if the ABL Agent provides the Administrative Agent with a copy of the results of a reasonably acceptable Inventory appraisal, the Administrative Agent will accept}
such results instead of conducting its own Inventory appraisal), in each case, from an appraiser engaged by and reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, and prepared on a basis reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative]
eriod unless (1) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (during which time there shall be no limit on the number of appraisals) or (2) Availability is at any time less than the greater of (a) $78,750,000 and (b) 15% of the}
[Maximum Credit Amount (calculated without giving effect to the FILO Reserve), in each case, for a period of three (3) consecutive Business Days, in which case of clause (2), one additional appraisal may, and at the written direction of thej
Required Lenders shall, be done at the expense of the Loan Parties during the subseguent twelve (12) month period. For the avoidance of doubt, all such appraisals commenced during the existence of an Event of Default shall be at the]

[Each Loan Party shall, and shall cause each Restricted Subsidiary of such Loan Party to, maintain and keep proper books of record and 89 11584747
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laccount which enable such Loan Party and its Restricted Subsidiaries to issue financial statements in accordance with GAAP and as otherwise required by applicable Laws of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such

90 11584747
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SECTION 5.12 Casualty.
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statements, flxture f\|ll‘l s, and other documents Whlch may be required by an: Remremem of Law or wi ch the Administrative Agent may, from time to time, reasonabl request, to cause the Collateral and Guaranty Rewrement 10 be]

0) shall pay all fees and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorne and expenses, and all title insurance charges and premiums, in connection with each Loan Pat igations under this Section
SECTION 5 15 Envnonmental Laws Excet where the failure to do so would not reasonably be ex| ected to have Material Adverse Effect, the Company and each Restricted Subsidiary shall (i conduct |ts oerauons and keep an

oan Parties with respect to sucl rcumstanc n accordance with GAAP or (b) the primary ol ation the r is that of an ui ated tl arty eithel uant to Envi ental Laws ent of record or contractual agreemen
or indemnity in favor Of the aj ||cable Loan Part A IIS successors and assigns. SECT|ON 5.16 Canad\an PEI’\SIDI’] Plans a FOI' each existing, or hereaftel adoted Canadlan Pension Plan each Loan Party will, in a timel! faS|1I0l1 Ccomp

dministration obligations), unless any failure to so comply or perform would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. All employer or employee payments, contributions or premiums required to be remitted, paid|
0 or in respect of each Canadian Pension Plan shall be paid or remitted by each Loan Part i fashion in accordance with the terms thereof, any funding agreements and all applicable laws, unless any failure to so would nof

reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 92 11584747
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SECTION 5.17 Post-Closing Covenants. The Loan Parties will execute and deliver the documents and complete the tasks set f
he Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion

lother amounts payable under any Loan Document (other than contingent or indemni

on Schedule 5.17, in each case within the time limits specified on such schedule (or such longer

. ARTICLE VI. NEGATIVE COVENANTS Until the Commitments shall have expired or been terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees, expenses and

obligations for which no claim has been made by the Person entitled thereto) shall have been paid in full, each Loan Party executing this Agreement
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Su ebtedness is for mo| xcess of $13,750,000, i ually or t'l aggregate, ing on the date set forth in Schedule 6.01; ndebte inclu Finance Leas
bllatrons Incurredb an Loan Pa or an Restrlcted Sub5|d|a , Dis ualmed Stock |ssuedb an Loan Part or an Restrrcled Subsu:hal and Preferred Stock issued by an: Resmcted Subsu:har to flnance whelher rior to or withi

asis giving effect to such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock, or Preferred Stock, as applicable, and based on the most recently completed Test Period (plus, in the case of any Refinancing Indel inancini
IAmount); (e) Indebtedness Incurred by any Loan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary constituting reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit and bank guarantees issued in the ordinary course of business, including, without]

limitation, letters of credit in respect of workers’ compensation 93 11584747]
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s of, Environmental Law, and other Indebtedness with respect to reimbursement type obligations regarding worl npensation claims; (f) unsecure rom agreements of a Loan an or any Restricte:
roviding for \ndemnlflcatlon adj ustment of ac ulsmon or purchase price or similar obligations (including earn-outs), in each case, Incurred or assumed in connection with the any Investments or any acquisition or disposition of]
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1) Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock of the Company or Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of any Restricted Subsidiary in an aggregate principal amount or liquidation preference, which when aggregated with thej
principal amount and liuidation preference of all other Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock then outstanding and Incurred pursuant to this clause (I), together with any Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof|

lary, as app|
be subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations, substantially to the same extent as such Indebtedness is subordinated to the Obligations, (B) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness or other obligations of a Canadian Loal

oan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock, or by any Restricted Subsidian

referred Stock issued as permitted under clauses (b), (c), (d). () and (n) of this Section 6.01 up to the outstanding

Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, in each case at the time such Indebtedness was Incurred or Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock was issued HNONCN
Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock Incurred or issued to so refund or refinance such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock plus any additional Indebtedness, Disqualifit
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ollatel the Obligatio Refinancing Indebtedness (if se: ure a Lien on the Collateral that is, as ap e, U Wit or to the Lien on the Collats the Obligations to the same exter
jas such Indebtedness bein reﬂnanced or that is junior thereto and a SEnIDf Re resentative of such Refinancin Indebtedness acting on behalf Of the hD|dEfS Of such Indebtedness shall have become art to or Oﬂ’IeI’WISS sub ect to Ih

ndebtedness of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary that refinances Indebtedness of an Unrestricted Subsidiary; (0) unsecured Indebtedness of the Company that is equif ed (including, without limitation, Indebtedness that it
convertible into E uit Interests of the Company) and not uarameed by an Subswdlar of the Company in an amount not to exceed $137 500, ODO at any time outstanding; Reserved]; Indebtedness arisin from the honoring b

lordinary course of business; (u) Indebtedness consisting of Indebtedness of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary to current or former officers, directors and employees thereof or any direct or indirect parent thereof, their respective]
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estates, spouses or former spouses, in each case to finance the purchase or redemption of Equity Interests of the Company or any direct or indirect parent of the Company to the extent described in Section 6.02(b)(iv); (v) Indebtedness in|
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Indebtedness of any Person that becomes a Restricted Subsidiar
created in contemplation of or in connection with such Person becoming a Restricted Subsidial
remiums in the ordinary course of business or consistent with past practice or industn
ordinary course of business or consistent with past
deferred rent arrangements shall onl

after the date hereof; provided that such Indebtedness (i) exists at the time such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary and is nof]
ii) does not exceed $20,000,000 in the aggregate at any time outstanding; (z) Indebtedness in respect of the financing of insurance]

practice; (aa) Indebtedness to customs brokers, freight forwarders, common carriers, landlords and similar Persons, in each case incurred in thej
rovided, however, for purposes of this clause (aa), it is understood and agreed that any deferred rent arran

iements entered into, or to be entered into, with landlords, such|

be considered to be in the ordinary course of business or consistent with past practice to the extent such deferred rent arrangements are entered into as a result of the impacts on the Loan Parne
tedness in an aggregate amount not to ex i

d ir nding a Permitted Wholesale A/R Financing; and (cc) Indebtedness owed on a short-
banks and other flnanmal institutions mcuned in the ordinary course of busmess of the Com any and its Restricted Subswdlarles with such banks or flnanmal institutions that arises in connectlon with ordinar bankln arran emems

rate of currencies will not be deemed to be an Incurrence of Indebtedness, Dis uallfled Stock or Preferred Stock for purposes of this Section 6.01. In addition, Guaranties of, or obligations in respect of letters of credit relating to,)
Indebtedness which is otherwise included in the determination of a particular amount of Indebtedness shall not be included in the determination of such amount of Indebtedness; provided that the Incurrence of the Indebtedness|

represented by such guarantee or letter of credit, as the case may be, was in compliance with this Section 6.01. 97 11584747
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installment to the extent not prohibited by the terms of any applicable subordination isi permitted under clause (h) of Section 6.01); or in the case of Junior Indebtedness of the type described in clause (c
lof the definition of Junior Indebtedness, make any payment on such Indebtedness; or (iv) make any Restricted Investment; 98 1158474
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all such payments and other actions set forth in subclauses (i) through (iv) above being collectively referred to as “Restricted Payments”). (b) The provisions of Section 6.02(a) shall not prohibit: (i) the payment of any dividend o

out of the proceeds of, the substantially concurrent sale of, Equity Interests of the Company or contributions to the eguity capital of the Compan
Interests sold to a Subsidiary of the Company) (collectively, including any such contributions, “Refunding Capital Stock™: and (B) the declaration and payment of dividends on the Retired Capital Stock out of the p
an m r r

substantially concurrent sale (other than to a Subsidiary of the Com) of Refunding Capital Stock; (iii) the redemption, repurchase, defeasance, or other acquisition or retirement of any Junior Indebtedness of any Loan Party made b

i tedness so purchased, exchanged, redeemed,
date equal to or later than the earlier of (x) the final scheduled maturity datej

= slide119

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 195/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

lcontinuing immediately before or after the making of such Restricted Payment, a Restricted Payment to pay for the repurchase, retirement or other acquisition for value of Equity Interests of the Company or any direct or indirect parent o
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secured Indebtedness that becomes due as aresult of (A) an volunta sale or transferof an assets other than assets included in any Borrowing Base) securing such Indebtedness or (B) any casualty or condemnauon proceedin:
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lcomplies with Section 6.05 shall be considered an arm's-length transaction) and the respective Borrower or Restricted Subsidiary receives at least fair market value, and (3) the consideration received by such Borrower or such Restricted|
Subsidiary consists of at least 75% cash and is paid at the time of the closing of such sale; provided, however, that the following shall be deemed to be cash in respect of assets that are Collateral of the type eligible to be included in ti

Borrowing Base: (A) the assumption by the transferee of Indebtedness or other liabilities contingent or otherwise of the Company 104 1158474
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g p
Test Period (with the Fair Market Value of each item of Designated Non-cash Consideration being measured at the time received and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value); provided, however, with respect a Disposition (in|

p
k) Dispositions of Equity Interests of any Joint Venture to the extent required by the terms of customary buy/sell type arrangements entered into in connection with the formation of such Joint Venture; 105 11584747
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1) transfer or disposition of property subject to or as a result of a casualty or condemnation (or agreement in lieu of condemnation) (1) upon receipt of net cash proceeds of such casualty or (2) to a Governmental Authority as a result of

laccordance with liquidation agreements and with professional liquidators reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and (3) in connection with any Disposition pursuant to this clause (m) involving greater than $3,437,500 of]

Disposition in reliance on this clause (7) for less than Fair Market Value (as determined in good faith by the Company) shall be deemed an Investment and must be made in compliance with clause (1) of the definition of Permitte

lassignment or sublease of any real or personal property in exchange for services (including in connection with any outsourcing arrangements) or comparable or greater value or usefulness to the business of the Company and its|
applied to the purchase price of such replacement property; (p) Dispositions of asset:
e eligible to be included in the Borrowing Base, Material Intellectual Propert
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or Restricted Subsidiary from such Sale/Leaseback Transaction is in the form of cash and (ii) any Sale/Leaseback Transactions between Excluded Subsidiaries;

x) 75% of the consideration received by such Loan Part
pursuant to any Permitted Wholesale A/R Financing of wholesale Accounts, proceeds of such accounts receivable and other assets which are customarily transferred in connection with the financing or securitization of accounts

receivable, in each case, either for Fair Market Value (as determined in good faith by the Company) or for another price consistent with customary or market practice for the sale of accounts receivable in connection with the financing o
securitization of accounts receivable (as determined in good faith by the Company): (s) Dispositions of assets or issuances of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary or sale of Equi i

205/277
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Subsidiary which assets or Equity Interests so Disposed or issued, in any single transaction or related series of transactions, have a fair market value (as determined in good faith by the Company) of less than $6,875,000 per fiscal year;
t) Dispositions arising from foreclosure or any similar action with respect to an or other asset of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries; I it ity Interests in, or Indebtedness or other securities of |

Interests of the IPCo JV) in the ordinary course of business to the extent replaced by substitute assets. Notwithstanding anything else set forth in this Section 6.04 to the contrary, no Disposition (other than a Disposition to another Loar
Party) of any Material Intellectual Property, Material Real Property, 107 1158474
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Interests of the IPCo any or another Loan Party shall be permitted under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent. SECTION 6.05 Affiliate Transactions. No Loan Part

g
following: (a) Affiliate Transactions on terms that are not materially less favorable to the relevant Loan Party or the Restricted Subsidiary than those that could have been obtained in a comparable transaction by the relevant Loan Part

hereto and any amendment thereto (so long as any such agreement together with all amendments thereto, taken as a whole, is not more disadvantageous to the Lenders in any material respect than the original agreement as in effect on|

been obtained at such time from an unaffiliated party or (B) transactions with Joint Ventures or Unrestricted Subsidiaries entered into in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; provided, however, with respect to
lany consideration made to a Loan Party or its Restricted Subsidiaries by Joint Ventures, the applicable Loan Party or Restricted Subsidiary shall receive at least Fair Market Value for the goods or services of such transaction; 108

11584747
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ledges of Equity Interests of Unrestricted|
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, by operation of law or otherwise, enter into an
all of its property or business, except that: (i) (x) any U.S. Loan Party may consolidate, amalgamate or merge into another U.S. Loan Party or another Person thaf

Canadian Borrower shall be a surviving person); (ii) (x) any Domestic Subsidiary or Canadian Subsidiary may be merged, amalgamated or consolidated with or into a U.S. Loan Party (provided that such U.S. Loan Party shall be thel

must be to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; 110 1158474
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Investment not prohibited by Section 6.02 may be structured as a merger, consolidation or amalgamation; (vi) any Subsidiary may be dissolved or liquidated so long the Dispositions of assets of such Person in connection with such|

its name as it appears in official filings in the state or province of incorporation or organization, (b) change its chief executive office, (c) change the type of entity that it is, (d) change its organization identification number, if any, issued by it

indirectly, use the proceeds of any Loans for any purpose which would breach any Anti-Terrorism Laws applicable to any Loan Party or Subsidiary, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the Corruption of
[Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada), the UK Bribery Act 2010, and other Anti-Corruption Laws in any jurisdiction in which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is located or is doing material business. Notwithstanding the foregoing
he representations and covenants made in this Section 6.09 shall not be made by nor aj to any Person that qualifies as a corporation that is registered or incorporated under 111 11584747]
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the laws of Canada or any province thereof and that carries on business in whole or in part in Canada within the meaning of Section 2 of the Foreign Extraterritorial Measures (United States) Order, 1992 passed under the Foreign|
[Subsidiaries. Each of Ebuys, Article Il JV and BC/VC shall not own, acquire, lease, possess or otherwise maintain any material assets except those held by such entities on the date hereof. SECTION 6.11 Canadian Pension Plans. The]
Loan Parties shall not (a) contribute to or assume an obligation to contribute to any Canadian Defined Benefit Plan, without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (consent not to be unreasonably withheld), or (b) acquire an}

other Loan Document within three (3) Business Days after the same shall become due and payable; or (b) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Loan Party in any Loan Document (whether made}
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Imade or deemed made (other than a representation, warranty, certification or statement qualified by materiality or reference to the absence of a Material Adverse Effect, in which event such representation, warranty, certification of
statement shall prove to have been false or misleadin
5.10, 5.11, 5.17, Article VI, Section 6(j) of the U.S. Securi

clause (d)(ii)(B) shall not apply to secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness, if such sale or transfer is permitted hereunder and under th
its debts as such debts become due, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally, or shall make a general assignment for the]

p
ive rise to an Event of Default under this subsection (f) if and so long as (A) the amount of such judgment or order which remains unsatisfied is covered by a valid and binding policy of insurance between the respective Loan Party and &
hird-party insurer covering full payment of such 113 1158474
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unsatisfied amount and (B) such insurer has been notified, and has not disputed the claim made for payment, of the amount of such judgment or order; or (g) a Change in Control shall have occurred; or (h) any of the following events or
onditions shall have occurred and such event or condition, when aggregated with any and all other such events or conditions set forth in this subsection (h), has resulted or is reasonably expected to result in liabilities of the Loan Partie
of the ERISA Affiliates shall have been|
to such Multiemployer Plan; or (iii) any of the Loan Parties or any of the ERISA Affiliates shall have been notified by the sponsor of a Multiemploye!
Plan that such Multiemployer Plan is insolvent or is being terminated, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA, or has been determined to be in “endangered” or “critical” status within the meaning of Section 432 of the Code or Section 305)
of ERISA and, as a result of such insolvency, termination or determination, the aggregate annual contributions of the Loan Parties and the ERISA Affiliates to all of the Multiemployer Plans that are insolvent, being terminated or i
reorganization, insolvency or termination occurs; or (iv) any failure to satisfy the applicable minimum funding standards under Section 412(a) of the Code or Section 302(a;

land/or the ERISA Affiliates in an aggregate amount that would have a Material Adverse Effect: (i) any ERISA Event shall have occurred with respect to a Plan; or (i) any of the Loan Parties or an
notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that it has incurred Withdrawal Liabili

of ERISA, whether or not waived, shall exist with respect to one
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Iso declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Loan Parties accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, in each case without presentment, demand,|

Intercreditor Agreement (or any other Intercreditor Agreement entered into by the Administrative Agent after the Closing Date), any such provisions being referred to as the “Intercreditor Provisions”, shall, in whole or in part, terminate ]
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[Agent and the Lenders, and the Loan Parties shall not have rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions. It is understood and agreed that the use of the term “agent” as used herein or in any other Loan Documents (or an

fapplicable laws or otherwise, (b) benefit from and be subject to all provisions hereof with respect to the Administrative Agent mutatis mutandis, including, without limitation, all such provisions with respect to the liability or responsibility to

land indemnification by the Lenders, and (c) be entitled to delegate from time to time any of its powers or duties under any deed of hypothec on such 116 11584747
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onstitute the substitution of the Attorney and any successor Administrative Agent shall automatically (and without any further act or formality) become the successor Attorney for the purposes of each deed of hypothec referred to above.

number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02), and (c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent shall not have any du

IAdministrative Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances|
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las provided in Section 9.02) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final nonappealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction. The Administrative Agent shall be deemed not to havel
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consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrowers), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any suct
[counsel, accountants or experts. SECTION 8.05 Actions through Sub-Agents. The Administrative Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder or under any other Loan Documents by or throu
any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Related Parties. Thej

Collateral Document, including any action required to maintain the perfection of any such security interest) and (b) the Required Lenders shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retirin
[Administrative Agent, provided that until the time the Required Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided herein, (i) all payments required to be made hereunder or under any other Loan Document to the]
IAdministrative Agent for the account of any Person other than the Administrative Agent shall be made directly to such Person and (ii) all notices and other communications required or contemplated to be given or made to the]

strative Agent 118 11584747
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Ishall also directly be given or made to each Lender. Following the effectiveness of the Administrative Agent's resignation from its capacity as such, the provisions of this Article, Section 2.17(d) and Section 9.03, as well as any exculpatory,

Ino obligation to update, correct or supplement the Reports; (iv) it will keep all Reports confidential and strictly for its internal use and it will not share the Report with any Loan Party or any other Person except as otherwise permitted|

lany Lender. Each
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hereby makes the same acknowledgments with respect to the relevant Lenders in their respective capacities as bookrunners, lead arrangers, syndication agents, or documentation agents, as applicable, as it makes with respect to the]

g
the Secured Parties any Loan Documents necessary or appropriate to grant and perfect a Lien on such Collateral in favor of the Administrative Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties. SECTION 8.10 Erroneous Payments. (a) Each
Lender hereby agrees that (i) if the Administrative Agent notifies such Lender that the Administrative Agent has determined in its sole discretion that any funds received by such Lender from the Administrative Agent or an:
ere erroneously transmitted to, or otherwise erroneousl i received by, such Lender (whether or not known to such Lender repayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees or otherwisej]

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 222/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

doctrine. A notice of the Administrative Agent to any Lender under this clause (a) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error. (b) Without limiting immediatel
repayment (whether received as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees, distribution or otherwise) from the Administrative Agent (or any of its Affiliates) that (x) is in a different amount than, or on a different date]

from, that specified in a notice of payment, prepayment 120 11584747]
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; provided, that this Section 8.10(c) shall not be interpreted to increase (or accelerate the

been payable had such Erroneous Payment not been made by the Administrative Agent; provided, further, that for the avoidance of doubt, immediatel shall not apply to the extent any such Erroneoud

or any Sanctions or other Anti-Terrorism Law, including any programs involving any of the following items relating to or in connection with any of their Borrowers, their Affiliates or their agents, the other Loan Documents of]
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International Place Boston, MA 02110 Attention: Mark Silva Email: msilva@choate.com (iii) if to any other Lender, to it at its address or facsimile number set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire. 122 1158474’

slide142

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 225/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

JAll such notices and other communications (i) sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be deemed to have been given when received, (ii) sent by facsimile shall be deemed to have been|
given when sent, provided that if not given during normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day of the recipient, or (iii

Representative to the Administrative Agent, such acceptable and approved Electronic Systems include email to the Administrative Agent at the email addresses identified above or as otherwise designated in writing pursuant to Section|
3

[deemed to have been given on the date of receipt. (d) Electronic Systems. (i) Each Loan Party agrees that the Administrative Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, make Communications (as defined below) available to the othel

communications through an Electronic System (other than for direct or actual damages resulting from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of, or the material breach of the Loan Documents by, such Person, in each case,
las determined by a final 123 11584747
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land non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction). “Communications” means, collectively, any notice, demand, communication, information, document or other material provided by or on behalf of any Loan Party pursuant]

to any Loan Document or the transactions contemplated therein which is distributed by the Administrative Agent or any Lender by means of electronic communications pursuant to this Section, including through an Electronic System.|
SECTION 9.02 Waivers; Amendments. (a) No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single
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or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and|

the direction of the Required Lenders) (with a copy of all such amendments provided to the Administrative Agent) or (y) in the case of any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the

interest, fees or other Obligations payable hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse anyf
lsuch payment, or postpone the scheduled date of expiration of any Commitment, without the written consent of each Lender (including any such Lender that is a Defaulting Lender) directly affected thereby (except (1) in connection with|

v) [reserved], (vi) change any of the
rights thereunder or make an

thereby, 124 11584747,
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of the Administrative Agent hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (it being understood that any amendment to Section 2.20 shall require the consent of the Administrative Agent). The Administrative Agentf

he date hereof may be amended in accordance with the terms thereof. (c) The Secured Parties hereby irrevocably authorize the Administrative Agent, without further consent by the Secured Parties, (i) to release any Liens granted to the}

becomes an Excluded Asset, and (ii) to release any Loan Guaranty provided by any Loan Party (A) that is dissolved as permitted under Section 6.08 in connection with a voluntary liquidation or dissolution thereof permitted by such|

Section, pon the disposition of all of the outstanding Equity Interests of a Subsidiary of the Company (other than the Canadian Borrower) to a Person other than a Borrower or a Subsidiary in a transaction permitted by Section 6.09

other Secured Parties hereby authorize the Administrative Agent to execute and deliver any instruments, 125 11584747
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roposed amendment, waiver or consent requiring the consent of “each Lender” or “each Lender affected thereby,” the consent of the Required Lenders is obtained, but the consent of other necessary Lenders is not obtained (any]

including without limitation payments due to such Non-Consenting Lender under Sections 2.15 and 2.17, and (2) an amount, if any, equal to the payment which would have been due to such Lender on the day of such replacement undei

hrough an Electronic System) of the credit facilities provided for herein, the preparation and administration of the Loan Documents and any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions of the Loan Documents (whether or not|

interest, in which case, such additional counsel for the affected persons) for the Administrative Agent or 126 11584747|
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Lender, in connection with the enforcement, collection or protection of its rights in connection with the Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the Loans made hereunder, including all suc!
law firm in the U.S., one primary law firm in Canada, and one

workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans (in each case limited to one primai

an

reasonable and documented out-of-}

ocket expenses incurred during an:
law firm in any other relevant jurisdiction, except in the case of actual or perceived conflicts of interest, in which case, such additional counsel for the affected persons). Subject to Section 5.07, such reasonable and documented out-of

231/277
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ocket expenses being reimbursed by the Loan Parties under this Section may include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with: (i) appraisals and insurance reviews; (ii) fiel
lexaminations and the preparation of Reports based on the fees charged by a third party retained by the Administrative Agent or the reasonable and documented internally allocated fees for each Person employed by the Administrativel

land each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”) against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including

investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether or not such claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding is brought by the Loan Parties or their respective equity holders, Affiliates, creditors or any other third Person and|

liabilities or 127 11584747|
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itigation, investigation, arbitration or proceeding (a “Proceeding”) that does not directly or primarily involve an act or omission of the Company or any of its Affiliates and that is brought by an Indemnitee against any other Indemnitee (othe:

not later than 10 days after written demand therefor. (f) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Canadian Loan Party shall have any liability under this Section 9.03 for any expenses or indemnities that do not arise from the commitments ol

D
or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective 128 1158474

slide148

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 233/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders’

Agent within 10 Business Days after having received notice thereof, and provided further that no consent of the Borrower Representative shall be required for an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, an Approved Fund or, if a

2.17(f); and (D) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent all “know your customer” documents requested by the Administrative Agent pursuant to anti-mone rules and regulations, and an|
JAdministrative Questionnaire in which the assignee designates one or more credit contacts to whom all syndicate-level information (which may contain material non-public information about the Company, the other Loan Parties and their|
Related 129 11584747
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Parties or their respective securities) will be made available and who may receive such information in accordance with the assignee’s compliance procedures and applicable laws, including Federal and state securities laws. For the]

the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no assignment by a Defaulting Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of an:

part hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender). An:
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Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitment of, and principal amount of and stated interest on the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the term:

hereof from time to time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register]
pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrowers and any Lender, at any reasonable time and|

rom time to time upon reasonable prior written notice. 130 1158474
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v) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee’s completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder))

interest on) each Participant's interest in the Loans or other obligations under this Agreement or any other Loan Document (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or an!
Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any Commitments, Loans or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such
disclosure is necessary to establish that such Commitment, Loan or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive]
labsent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such 131 1158474
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Participant Register. (d) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including without limitation any pledge or assignment tol

rights and obligations, in each case plus accrued interest, accrued fees and all other amounts (other than principal amounts) payable to it hereunder. (iii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Disqualified]
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Agreement is outstanding and unpaid and so long as the Commitments have not expired or terminated. The provisions of Sections 2.15, 2.16, 2.17 and 9.03 and Article VIII shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans, the expiration or termination of the Commitments or the termination of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any provision hereof or thereof.
[ISECTION 9.06 Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution. (a) This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, buf]
lall of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement, the other Loan Do ents and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agent constitute the entire contractl
lamong the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in Section 4.01, this Agreement shal
become effective when it shall have been executed by the Administrative Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties]
hereto, and thereatter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. (b) Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy, emailed pdf

or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of the actual executed signature page shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” “delivery,’

ind words of like import in or relating to any document to 133 1158474
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be signed in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the]

apply any deposits (i) of any Canadian Loan Party to the satisfaction of any of the U.S. Secured Obligations or (i) to the extent that such deposit constitutes an Excluded Asset. The applicable Lender shall notify the Borrowe

Representative and the Administrative Agent promptly after any such set-off or appli h in giving such notice shall not affect the validity of any such set-off or application under this Section.
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Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to thej

maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court. (d) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 9.01. Nothing in this Agreement or an

[Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. SECTION 9.10 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTEN
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN

[DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE |

IOTHER AGENT (INCLUDING ANY ATTORNEY) OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE TH
[CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION. SECTION 9.11 Headings. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the
lconstruction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement. SECTION 9.12 Confidentiality. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below)
a) to its and its Affiliates’ directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made

except that Information may be disclosed
purporting to have jurisdiction over such Person (including any self:

ill be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by an
g , such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the extent required by any Requirement of Law or by any subpoena or similar legal
onnection with the exercise of any remedies under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder o
provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or 135 11584747
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rospective investors)|

g
financing sources, provided that prior to any disclosure, such financing source is informed of the confidential nature of the information and instructed to keep such Information confidential, (i) to any current or

arty shall cooperate with the Borrower Representative to the extent|

refrain from disclosing to the Borrower Representative the existence of such subpoena and, in each case, such disclosing

rior to disclosure by the Loan Parties under circumstances in which, as far as such recipientf
of Information a:
ow|

such information that is available to the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a non-confidential basis
of such source with respect to such information. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiali

re to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to its
NT MAY INCLUDE MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION]

Parties or their business, other than an:
is aware, such information has not been made available as a result of a breach of any obligation of confidentialif
brovided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of ca
confidential information. EACH LENDER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN SECTION 9.12 FURNISHED TO IT PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEME
[CONCERNING THE COMPANY, AND ITS AFFILIATES AND THEIR RELATED PARTIES OR THEIR RESPECTIVE SECURITIES, AND CONFIRMS THAT IT HAS DEVELOPED COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING THE USE!
OF MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION AND THAT IT WILL HANDLE SUCH MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THOSE PROCEDURES AND APPLICABLE LAW, INCLUDING FEDERAL AND
TATE SECURITIES LAWS. ALL INFORMATION, INCLUDING REQUESTS FOR WAIVERS AND AMENDMENTS, FURNISHED BY THE LOAN PARTIES OR THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT PURSUANT TO, OR IN THE COURSE OH
ADMINISTERING, THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE SYNDICATE-LEVEL INFORMATION, WHICH MAY CONTAIN MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY, THE LOAN PARTIES AND THEIR RELATED PARTIE
(OR THEIR RESPECTIVE SECURITIES. ACCORDINGLY, EACH LENDER REPRESENTS TO THE LOAN PARTIES AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT THAT IT HAS IDENTIFIED IN ITS ADMINISTRATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE A|
ICREDIT CONTACT WHO MAY RECEIVE INFORMATION THAT MAY CONTAIN MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES AND APPLICABLE LAW, INCLUDING FEDERAL}

AND STATE SECURITIES LAWS. 136 1158474
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ISECTION 9.13 Several Obligations; Nonreliance; Violation of Law. The respective obligations of the Lenders hereunder are several and not joint and the failure of any Lender to make any Loan or perform any of its obligations hereunde
shall not relieve any other Lender from any of its obligations hereunder. Each Lender hereby represents that it is not relying on or looking to any margin stock (as defined in Regulation U of the Board) for the repayment of the Borrowings]
provided for herein. Anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, no any Lender shall be obligated to extend credit to the Borrowers in violation of any Requirement of Law. SECTION 9.14 USA PATRIOT Act. Each|
Lender that is subject to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act hereby notifies each Loan Party that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies such Loal

in order to comply with any applicable AML Legislation, whether now or hereafter in existence. (b) If the Administrative Agent has ascertained the identity of any Loan Party or any authorized signatories of the Loan Parties for the purpose:

Parties or any authorized signatories of the Loan Parties on behalf of any Lender, or to confirm the completeness or accuracy of any information it obtains from any Loan Party or any such authorized signatory in doing so. SECTION 9.16
Disclosure. Each Loan Party and each Lender hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Administrative Agent and/or its Affiliates from time to time may hold investments in, make other loans to or have other relationships with any of thej

Loan Parties and their respective Affiliates. 137 11584747
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ECTION 9.17 Appointment for Perfection. Each Lender hereby appoints each other Lender as its agent for the purpose of perfecting Liens, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the other Secured Parties, in assets which, i

herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Loan, together with all fees, charges and other amounts|

the Administrative Agent's instructions. SECTION 9.18 Interest Rate Limitation. Notwithstanding anythin
ed, taken, received or reserved by the Lender]

which are treated as interest on such Loan under applicable law (collectively the “Charges”), shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the “Maximum Rate”) which may be contracted for, char
licable law, the rate of interest payable in respect of such Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and, to the extent lawful, the]
interest and Charges that would have been payable in respect of such Loan but were not payable as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cumulated and the interest and Charges payable to such Lender in respect of other|
Loans or periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together with interest thereon at the Fed Funds Rate to the date of repayment, shall have been received by such Lender.
. In connection with all aspects of each transaction contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Loan

acknowledges and agrees that: (i) (A) the arranging and other services regarding this Agreement provided by the Lenders are arm’s-length commercial transactions between such Borrower and its Affiliates,

has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to such Loan Party or its Affiliates. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Loan Party hereby waives and releases any claims that it may have against each of the Lenders and thei

liable for the U.S. Obligations and the Canadian Obligations). 138 11584747
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Administrative Agent may, in accordance with normal banking procedures, purchase, in the New York foreign exchange market, the Original Currency with the amount of the Second Currency so paid; and if the amount of the Original

respect of its obligations hereunder and under any promissory notes evidencing the Loans hereunder and any other Loan Document to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,)

process to such Canadian Loan Party in care of the Borrower Representative at the Borrower Representative’s address set forth in Section 9.01, and each such Canadian Loan Party hereby i authorizes and directs the Borrower
Representative to accept such service on its behalf. As an alternative method of service, each Canadian Loan Party irrevocably consents to the service of any and all process in any such action or proceeding by the mailing (by registered|
or certified mail, postage prepaid) of copies of such process to the Borrower Representative or such Canadian Loan Party at its address specified in Section 9.01. Each Canadian Loan Party agrees that a final judgment in any such action|

or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner i law. SECTION 9.25 Termination and Release of Collateral. 139 11584747
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Liens in Collateral will be released, and applicable Loan Parties shall be released of their obligations under the Loan Documents, in accordance with the terms of Section 9.02(c) hereof. (b) In connection with the termination of all
ICommitments, payment and satisfaction in full in cash of all Obligations (other than Unliquidated Obligations), the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, agrees to negotiate in good faith with the Borrower Representative, and to]
lexecute and deliver, a customary payoff letter in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative, which payoff letter shall provide for, among other things, (i) an acknowledgment of

he termination of all Loan Documents, other than any terms thereunder that expressly survive termination, (ii) delivery to the Borrower Representative or its designee of all property pledged to the Administrative Agent or any Lendel
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including without limitation stock or other certificates, notes receivable, certificates of title, change of address forms and other instruments) or, if applicable, lost collateral affidavits with respect thereto, (iii) delivery to the Borrowe

rovided that the content of any such marketing, press release or other transactional announcements or updates shall be reasonably acceptable to the Borrowel

marketing, press release or other transactional announcements or updates;

pplicable Resolution Authority]
, including, if applicable (i) a reduction in full or i}

hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and (b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liabili

lto any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any part

issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownershi
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ISECTION 9.28 Certain ERISA Matters. Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such

ISecured Parties, the prompt payment and performance when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, and at all times thereafter, of the Secured Obligations and all reasonable and documented costs and expenses,)

Obligations, collectively the “U.S. Guaranteed Obligations”. Each U.S. Loan Party further 141 11584747|
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lagrees that the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations may be extended or renewed in whole or in part without notice to or further assent from it, and that it remains bound upon its guarantee notwithstanding any such extension or renewal. All

Obligations, by operation of law or otherwise; (i) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of any Loan Party or any other Obligated Parf

: 4
rovision of any agreement relating to the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations; (iii) any release, non- perfection or invalidity of any indirect or direct security for the obligations of any Loan Party for|

collateral securing any part of the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations; or (v) any default, failure or delay, willful or otherwise, in the payment or performance of any of the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations, or any other circumstance)
ct, omission or delay that might in any manner or to any extent vary the risk of such U.S. Loan Party or that would otherwise operate as a discharge of any U.S. Loan Party as a matter of law or equity (other than the indefeasible paymen
in full in cash of the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations). SECTION 10.04 Defenses Waived. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, each U.S. Loan Party hereby waives any defense based on or arising out of any defense of any U.S.
Loan Party or the unenforceability of all or any part of the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations from any cause, or the cessation from any cause of the liability of any U.S. ESH rty, other than the indefeasibl
ayment in full in cash of the Guaranteed Obligations. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each U.S. Loan Party irrevocably waives acceptance hereof, presentment, 142 11584747|

slide162

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 251/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

or adjust any part of the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations, make any other accommodation with any U.S. Obligated Party or exercise any other right or remedy available to it against any U.S. Obligated Party, without affecting or impairin:
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lagreement relating to the U.S. Guaranteed Obligations shall nonetheless be payable by the U.S. Loan Parties forthwith on demand by the Administrative Agent. SECTION 10.07 Information. Each U.S. Loan Part

liability shall, without any further action by the U.S. Loan Party or the Lenders, be automatically 143 1158474
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as a Loan Party under this Article X is in addition to and shall be cumulative with all liabilities off
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paid or incurred by the Administrative Agent and any Lender in endeavoring to collect all or an

11.03 No Discharge or Diminishment of Canadian Guaranty. 145 11584747]
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a) Except as otherwise provided for herein, the obligations of each Canadian Loan Party hereunder are unconditional and absolute and not subject to any reduction, limitation, impairment or termination for any reason (other than thej

payment in full in cash of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations), including: (i) any claim of waiver, release, extension, renewal, settlement, surrender, alteration or compromise of any of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations, by operation|

lexistence of any claim, setoff or other rights which any Canadian Loan Party may have at any time against any Canadian Obligated Party, the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any other person, whether in connection herewith or in any]
hereunder are not subject to any defense or setoff, counterclaim, recoupment or termination whatsoever by reason of the invalidity, illegality or unenforceability off

for any of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations; (iv) any action or failure to act by the Administrative Agent, or any Lender or any other Secured Party with respect to any collateral securing any part of the Canadian Guaranteed]

J
requirement that at any time any action be taken by any Person against any Canadian Obligated Party, or any other Person. Each Canadian Loan Party confirms that it is not a surety under any state law and shall not raise any such law|
las a defense to its obligations hereunder. The Administrative Agent may, at its election, foreclose on, or otherwise enforce against, any Collateral securing all or a part of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations and held b

judicial or nonjudicial sales, accept an assignment of any such Collateral in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise act or fail to act with respect to any such Collateral, compromise or adjust any part of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations, make
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under this Canadian Guaranty except to the extent the Canadian Guaranteed 146 11584747
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roceeding (such highest amount determined hereunder being the relevant Canadian Loan Party's “Maximum Canadian Liability”). This Section with respect to the Maximum Canadian Liability of each Canadian Loan Party is intended]

of the Administrative Agent, or the Lenders hereunder, provided that, nothing in this sentence shall be construed to increase any Canadian Loan Party's obligations hereunder beyond its Maximum Canadian Liability.
Contribution. In the event any Canadian Loan Party (a “Paying Canadian Loan Party”) shall make any payment or payments under this Canadian Guaranty or shall suffer any loss 147 11584747|
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Maximum Canadian Liability has not been determined, the aggregate amount of all monies received by such Non-Paying Canadian Loan Party from the other Canadian Loan Parties after the date hereof (whether by loan, capital infusion|

any contribution hereunder), or to the extent that a Maximum Canadian Liability has not been determined for any Canadian Loan Party, the aggregate amount of all monies received by such Canadian Loan Parties from the other Canadian|
Loan Parties after the date hereof (whether by loan, capital infusion or by other means). Nothing in this provision shall affect any Canadian Loan Party's several liability for the entire amount of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations (up to
such Canadian Loan Part { iability). Each of the Canadian Loan Parties covenants and agrees that its right to receive any contribution under this Canadian Guaranty from a Non-Paying Canadian Loan Party shall be]
junior in right of payment to the payment in full in cash of the Canadian Guaranteed Obligations. This provision is for the benefit of all of the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Canadian Loan Parties and may be]
iabilities of each Canadian Loan Party to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which such Canadian Loan Party i or in respect of any obligations or liabilities of the;
lother Canadian Loan Parties, without any limitation as to amount, unless the instrument or agreement evidencing or creating such other liability specifically provides to the contrary.
successful operation of each of the Loan Parties is dependent on the successful performance and operation of each other Loan Party. Each Canadian Loan Party expects to derive benefit (and its board of directors or other governing body]
has determined that it may r be expected to derive benefit), directl indi , from (i) successful operations of each of the other Loan Parties and (i) the credit extended by the Lenders to the Borrowers hereunder, both ir
their separate capacities and as members of the group of companies. Each Canadian Loan Party has determined that execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and any other Loan Documents to be executed by such Loan
is within its purpose, in furtherance of its direct and/or indirect business interests, will be of direct and/or indirect benefit to such Loan Party, and is in its best interest. ARTICLE XII. THE BORROWER REPRESENTATIVE 148|

11584747
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hereunder and under each othe

SECTION 12.01 Appointment; Nature of Relationshi any is hereby appointed by each of the Borrowers as its contractual representative (herein referred to as the “Borrower Representative”
Loan Document, and each of the Borrowers irrevocably authorizes the Borrower Representative to act as the contractual representative of such Borrower with the rights and duties expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan|
Documents. The Borrower Representative agrees to act as such contractual representative upon the express conditions contained in this Article XII. Additionally, the Borrowers hereby appoint the Borrower Representative as their agent to
disburse such|

roceeds of the Loans into such accounts as the Borrower Representative shall designate to the Administrative Agent in writing from time to time, at which time the Borrower Representative shall prom

receive all of the
i s). The Administrative Agent and the Lenders, and their respective officers, directors, agents or employees, shall not be liable to the Borrower Representative or any Borrower for any action taken ol
ifi delegated to the Borrower Representative by the terms of each thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Borrower Representative shall have no implied duties to the Borrowers, or any]
provided by the Loan Documents to be taken by the Borrower Representative. SECTION 12.03 Employment of Agents. The Borrower Representative|

action specificall

obligation to the Lenders to take any action thereunder except an
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Signature Pages Follow) 150 11584747
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. U.S. BORROWER: DESIGNER BRANDS INC. By: Name;|

JJared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative Officer CANADIAN BORROWER: DESIGNER BRANDS CANADA INC. By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President [Signature]
Page to Term Credit Agreement
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TECHNOLOGY LLC By: Name: Jared A Poff T|t|e Executlve Vlce President ETAILDIRECT LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executlve Vice Pre5|dent Signature Page to Term Credit Agreement]
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EBUYS, INC. By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President DSW MS LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President DSW LEASED BUSINESS DIVISION LLC AKA AFFILIATED BUSINESS GROUP By: Name]|

Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President 810 AC LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President RETAIL VENTURES SERVICES, INC. By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President [Signature Page to Term|

[Credit Agreement]
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AMUTO LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President DESIGNER BRAND LICENSING LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President VCJS LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President

'CS GROUP, LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President VINCENT CAMUTO LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President [Signature Page to Term Credit Agreement]

slide174

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 266/277

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

[CCI OPERATIONS LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President VC FOOTWEAR LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President VC LINE BUILDING SERVICES LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive]

ice President HOT ON TIME LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President SOLE SOCIETY GROUP INC. By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Executive Vice President [Signature Page to Term Credit Agreement]
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OPO ATHLETIC LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Title: Execuuve Vlce President, Interim CFO DESIGNER BRANDS PARTNERS LLC By: Name: Jared A. Poff Tntle Executlve Vice President DBI BRANDS MANAGEMENT LLC By: Namej}
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PLC AGENT LLC, as Administrative Agent By: Pathlight Capital LP, Its Sole Member By: Pathlight GP LLC, Its General Partner By: Name: Roger Malouf Title: Managing Director PATHLIGHT CAPITAL FUND Il LP, as a Lender By]]
Pathlight Partners || GP, LLC, Its General Partner By: Name: Roger Malouf Title: Managing Director PATHLIGHT CAPITAL FUND IIl LP, as a Lender By: Pathlight Partners |1l GP LLC, Its General Partner By: Name: Roger Malouf Title:
Managing Director [Signature Page to Term Credit Agreement]
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

1, Douglas M. Howe, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Designer Brands Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b

-

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

—_
)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d

=

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
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(a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

December 5, 2023 June 4, 2024 By: /s/ Douglas M. Howe

Douglas M. Howe
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

1, Jared A. Poff, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Designer Brands Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b

-

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c

N

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(

=

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect

the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

December 5, 2023 June 4, 2024 By: /sl Jared A. Poff
Jared A. Poff

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative
Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002*1350 CERTIFICATION*

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Designer Brands Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Douglas M. Howe, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

December 5, 2023 June 4, 2024 By:  /s/ Douglas M. Howe

Douglas M. Howe
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

*

This Certification is being furnished as required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code, and shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This Certification
shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, except as otherwise stated in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement required by 18 U.S.C. § 1350 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002*1350 CERTIFICATION*

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Designer Brands Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 28, 2023 May 4, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), |, Jared A. Poff, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

December 5, 2023 June 4, 2024 By: /s/ Jared A. Poff

Jared A. Poff

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative
Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

*

This Certification is being furnished as required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code, and shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This Certification
shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, except as otherwise stated in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement required by 18.U.S.C § 1350 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.

©2024, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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